Bass Coast Shire Council
Annual Report 2017/18
Shaping a better Bass Coast

Bass Coast Shire Council acknowledges Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islanders as the first Australians
and recognises that they have a unique relationship
with the land and water.
Council also recognises that we are situated on the
traditional lands of the Bunurong/Boonwurrung,
members of the Kulin Nation who have lived here
for thousands of years. We offer our respect to
their elders past and present and through them, all
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
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About Bass Coast
Welcome to the Report of Operations 2017/18
Council is committed to transparent reporting and accountability to the community and the Report of Operations 2017/18 is the
primary means of advising the Bass Coast community about Council’s operations and performance during the financial year.

Snapshot of Council
Vision
Bass Coast Shire will be recognised as a unique place of environmental significance where our
quality of life and sense of community is balanced by sustainable and sensitive development,
population and economic growth.
Mission
To take a leading role in partnership with other levels of government, businesses, community
groups and individuals to make our community’s vision a reality.

Values
Customer Focus
We will continue to develop effective relationships with customers.
Continuous Improvement
We are committed to improving our processes and service delivery.
Pride
We take pride in and promote our achievements, our staff and our organisation.
Integrity
We act and make decisions that are fair, honest, open and accountable.
Respect
We treat people with dignity and respect.
Commitment
We value and recognise contributions towards achieving the Bass Coast Vision. We listen,
understand, consult and respond to our community and staff. We provide accurate, timely and
relevant information.
4

The Year in Review

Mayor’s Message
I was thrilled to be re-elected as Mayor and able to
continue as a leader in representing our community.
I am extremely proud in the way that this Council
has continued to work towards its commitments,
particularly in the area of improving the way we
engage with and listen to our community.
Following the extensive engagement involved in
developing our Council Plan, we have been working
hard to develop and hone our engagement skills,
adding to our tool belt by running Facebook
Q&As (which I thoroughly enjoy) and continuing to
gather genuine feedback through workshops and
conversations at pop-up booths, community meetings
and coffee with a councillor.
Our continued engagement has allowed us to keep
in tune with our community, and in particular with
what the community needs and where our top
priorities lie. By understanding community needs, and
aligning these with what Council advocates for, we
are approaching decision makers with the support
and voices of the community behind us. Thanks to
the combined efforts of Council and the community
working together, we have been successful in securing
funding for vital community priorities. In fact, four of
our major advocacy projects identified in October 2017
were funded by April 2018, to the total value of $155.7
million.
Achieving cultural change or behavioural change is
no easy feat; it often takes many years and involves
countless challenges along the way.
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Our introduction of an organics waste service and new
three-bin waste management system is no exception.
Twelve months on from introducing our organics waste
collection we have a 77 per cent diversion of waste
from landfill (Sept 17 – August 18), providing significant
environment and economic benefits. We also have
incredibly low contamination rates (below 1 per cent
for organic waste and below 6 per cent for recycling),
a true testament to the way our community has
embraced this new system.
Excitingly, there are now 18 councils in Victoria with
a kerbside organics collection and four more doing a
trial. I am immensely proud that Bass Coast has been
somewhat of a trailblazer – leading the way in this area.
Beyond the statistics of our improvements, the way
in which the community is changing its behaviours
and habits, is incredible. We have champions in our
community driving initiatives such as Boomerang Bags,
Plastic Free Bass Coast, Strawbassadors and a totally
plastic free and renewable energy Phillip Island. It is
also impressive to see that our younger generation is
leading the way in a number of these initiatives.
In a shire where the environment is our economy we
must tackle these issues head on. Seeing the efforts
of Council echoed through the community gives me
much optimism and confidence in our future.
Cr Pamela Rothfield, Mayor
Bass Coast Shire Council

The Year in Review
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CEO’s Message
On behalf of Bass Coast Shire Council it is a great
pleasure to present Council’s Annual Report for the
year 2017/18.
Our 2017/18 Budget initiatives included major projects
such as the development of the Cowes Transit Hub
and extension of the Surf Parade shared path to
Veronica Street, Inverloch. It also included numerous
recreation upgrades such as construction of the Phillip
Island Football Netball Club rooms, new floodlights
for two soccer pitches at Newhaven reserve, and
redevelopment of change rooms at Dalyston
Recreation Reserve.
By far one of the largest projects was the
refurbishment of the Wonthaggi Union Community
Arts Centre. The $2.2 million project, funded through
our 2017/18 Renewal Budget, involved replacing
all 424 of the 35 year-old seats in the auditorium,
installing a 39kw solar system on the roof, significant
improvements to the sound and lighting and fitting
an accessibility lift. It’s been great to hear the positive
feedback from the public and see this important
community asset being well used and enjoyed.
Following the approval of some amendments due
to budgetary or scheduling requirements, Council’s
2017/18 Capital Works Program totalled 148 capital
works projects with a revised budget of $22.49 million.
Capital works include various infrastructure and asset
works relating to buildings, roads, drainage, plant
replacement and acquisition of land. All of these
projects align with Council’s strategic objectives:
Liveability, Health and Wellbeing and Environment.
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Following on from last year’s consultation in the
development of the Council Plan, Council has
continued to extend its focus on engaging with the
community. Council has been working closely with
the community on many issues ranging from new
off leash beach areas for dogs in Kilcunda and Cape
Paterson, to developing the Active Bass Coast Plan,
and collecting the community’s feedback in the
development of the Cowes to Stony Point Car Ferry
Business Case.
We have also worked closely with the community
in identifying and advocating for our top priorities
for Bass Coast. This increased focus on advocacy,
and our collaboration with key stakeholders and
the community, has led to significantly successful
outcomes totalling over $155 million of investment
from State Government towards the Wonthaggi
Hospital, Wonthaggi Secondary College, Wonthaggi
Highball facility and a major road upgrade on Phillip
Island.
In August 2018, I informed my staff, Councillors and
the community that I will not be seeking to extend
my contract when it expires in February 2019.
I have enjoyed many successes and challenges in
my time at Bass Coast and while I look forward to
the next chapter, I will always look back on my time
as CEO with proud memories of all that we have
achieved.
Paul Buckley PSM
Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Financial Officer’s Message
At the end of 2017/18, Council’s financial position continues to improve and we remain
focussed on delivering efficiencies from our activities. We are putting in place systems to
provide for detailed long term planning, rigorous project management practices, a ‘whole of
life’ asset management approach, further improving internal controls and are working towards
an approach where funding is determined by the level of services our community requires. All
of these measures provide for the opportunity to increase the quality and efficiency of the
facilities and the services that Council provides for the Bass Coast community.
While this Report focusses on the 2017/18 financial results, it is important to see these results
in the context of the long-term financial objectives developed by Council.

The 2017/18 result:
Income statement surplus/(deficit)
Underlying result
Cash assets
Net assets
Asset renewal ratio

2017/18
$’ million
9.99
1.54
46.65
636.58
46%

2016/17
$’ million
12.22
2.80
38.17
620.49
56%

For more information please refer to the annual financial report

Operating result
The result for the 2017/18 year was a $9.99 million surplus against a budgeted surplus of $3.91
million. The favourable variance is mainly attributable to the receipt of $6 million unbudgeted
developer contributed assets. The budget outcome has also been underpinned by expenditure
savings of $1 million on employee costs.
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Financial Snapshot
$9.99 million

Operating surplus (budget $3.91 million surplus)

$55.32 million

Rates and charges comprised 66% of the total operating revenue

$12.34 million

Capital works program delivered (against a budgeted $18.62 million)

$46.65 million

Cash holdings (increased by $8.48 million from $38.17 million in
2016/17 to 2017/18)

$15.46 million

Net borrowings (increased by $1.52 million from $13.94 million in
2016/17 to 2017/18)
Council focuses on three (3) key areas of financial performance as
a guide to our overall position from a sustainability perspective.
These three (3) areas are:
• Our operating and underlying results
• The renewal or replacement of our existing assets
• Our cash holdings

The Year in Review
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Chief Financial Officer’s Message
Underlying Result

Replacing our assets

A key measure of the financial sustainability is
the trend in the Underlying Result. This identifies
whether we are generating sufficient revenue
to cover operating expenses, including asset
replacement.
The underlying result for 2017/18 was a surplus
of $1.54 million. This represents ongoing
improvement, as the previous year’s Underlying
Result was inflated due to the early receipt of
the Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grant.

A key strategic indicator is the rate of
replacement of our assets as they age and
deteriorate. During 2017/18, we spent a total
of $12.34 million on works and asset purchases
(capital expenditure/investment) across the
Shire. This included a total of $6.37 million (52
per cent) on renewal works/activities and $5.97
million (48 per cent) on new and upgrade works/
activities.

The 2017/18 result:
Renewal
Upgrade
Expansion
New
Total Capital Works

Budget
$ million
10.20
2.93
2.28
3.21
18.62

Actual
$ million
6.37
4.54
0.06
1.37
12.34

Investment in our asset base is an indicator of
long term sustainability. Due to the impact of a
number of major multi-year and large deferred
projects, there has been a small dip in our capital
expenditure in 2017/18.
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Another key capital indicator is whether the
expenditure on renewal matches the rate that our
assets are deteriorating or depreciating.
Asset renewals expenditure in 2017/18 was
adversely impacted due to funds being carried
over to 2018/19 to complete multi-year renewal
projects and for the payment of
pre-ordered plant and fleet. It is noted that the
long-term trend of asset renewal expenditure
remains significantly below the benchmark goal.
To combat this, the 2018/19 Budget and the Long
Term Financial Plan maintain a target for renewal
demand activities of a minimum of 100 per cent.

The Year in Review
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Chief Financial Officer’s Message
Cash holdings

Financial sustainability

Cash holdings are about our ability to pay for Council’s
activities and obligations as and when they come
due, and is balanced by restricted items such as trust
deposits and reserves, or funds held for specific
purposes. For example, employee long service leave
obligations, future landfill rehabilitation etc.

Increasing threats to funding, such as rate capping
and growing community expectations highlight the
need for strong financial management, efficient long
and short term planning and the targeted allocation
of resources.
Our response is to identify and analyse significant
trends to provide for sound financial planning and
decision making. This is reflected in our annual
budget process, Strategic Resource Plan (SRP) and
Long Term Financial Plan.
Our Long Term Financial Plan established the
strategic financial direction for Council to meet the
funding and investment challenges that lie ahead
in the next 10 years and beyond. It is prepared in
conjunction with the SRP and Council Plan to ensure
the affordability of major initiatives included in the
Council Plan.
For further financial performance information refer
to the annual financial report.

During 2017/18 cash holdings increased to $46.65
million from $38.17 million in 2016/17. This increase is
due to lower level of cash flows relating to employees,
materials, services and the deferral of works and
projects to 2018/19. The level of cash is not an indication
of surplus cash but more a reflection of the need to
balance the day to day financing of Council with the
need to increase capacity or resilience of Council to
respond to future opportunities or to future financial
risks.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

David Filmalter CA
Manager Finance

The Year in Review
Major Capital Works
Council’s 2017/18 Capital Works Program (CWP) comprised of 128 capital projects with an approved
budget of $18.62 million. A further 27 projects were carried over from 2016/17, with a value of $5.24
million.
During the course of the financial year, Council approved a number of amendments to the CWP,
including project additions or deferrals due to budgetary or scheduling requirements. As at 30 June
2018 the CWP totalled 148 projects with a revised budget of $22.49 million. Of these, 116 projects were
completed with a value of $9.80 million. Completion of projects identified as multi-year, deferred or in
progress, required carryover of $8.72 million into the 2018/19 financial year.
Of the 32 projects carried over, five were identified for delivery over multiple years (carryover of $4.54
million), nine were deferred during 2017/18 (carryover of $2.05 million) and 18 were in progress as at the
end of financial year (carryover value $2.13 million); with the majority of these having a completion status
of greater than 70 per cent.
Council’s CWP encompasses a variety of infrastructure and asset works including buildings, roads,
drainage, plant replacement and acquisition of land. All works are undertaken to achieve and align with
Council’s strategic objectives of Liveability, Health and Wellbeing, and Environment.
Council is committed to maintaining and renewing its infrastructure assets, to enable residents and
visitors alike to enjoy quality, functional and aesthetically pleasing facilities. In 2017/18, Council funded 100
per cent of its projected renewal demand in line with its Asset Management Strategy. Renewal projects
included improvements in roads, drainage, car parks, street lighting, pathways, buildings and open space.
Some of the works delivered under the 2017/18 Renewal Program included:
• pathway renewal works at Reilly Street Inverloch, King Street Wonthaggi
• Grantville Glen Alvie Road and Chapel Street and Bass Avenue Cowes
• renewal of Powlett Bridge
• renewal of Dalyston Community Hall
• renewal of Cape Paterson’s Foreshore Rotunda and
• stormwater renewal works at Wentworth Road Wonthaggi, Scott Place Inverloch, King Street Ventnor
and Teddy Bear Lane, Cowes

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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The Year in Review
Major capital works achieved throughout the 2017/18 year included:

Wonthaggi Union Community Arts Centre: $2.2 million
The Wonthaggi Union Community Arts Centre (WUCAC) is Bass Coast’s major
entertainment venue, catering for cinema, live performance and community events.
The planning for the WUCAC Refurbishment Project started in early 2017 with Council
allocating funds for works to be completed in 2017/18. The refurbishment works took just
over four months to complete, and included key improvements such as:
• seating and auditorium refurbishment
• an upgrade of technical systems including lighting, sound and rigging
• improved access, toilet refurbishment and orchestra pit upgrades
The Centre re-opened in May 2018 with The Wonthaggi Theatre Group performing 10 sold
out shows of The Boy from Oz.

Surf Parade Shared Pathway – Ayr Creek to Veronica Street: $390,000
The extension of the foreshore shared path along Surf Parade in Inverloch continued in
2017/18 under the Surf Parade Inverloch Shared Path Master Plan, with the extension of the
path from Ayr Creek to Veronica Street. Works completed included provision of:
• an additional 400 metres of foreshore path
• new foreshore car parking area located just prior to Veronica Street
• water sensitive design improvements as well as new foreshore fencing and landscaping
• picnic tables and seats
The 2.5 metre wide shared pathway now extends almost three kilometres along the
Inverloch foreshore and provides accessibility to all community members. The pathway
link is part of the strategic pedestrian bicycle link within the Bass Coast Principal Bicycle
Network (PBN).
Works to design future stages of the path from Veronica Street to Goroke Street, as part
of the Surf Parade Inverloch Shared Path Master Plan will be undertaken as part of the
2018/19 CWP.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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The Year in Review
Water Sensitive Urban Design Renewal – Seagrove Estate: $185,000
Council is committed to ensuring we protect and preserve the Shire’s unique natural
environment as much as possible. The expansion of the Seagrove Estate subdivision
in Cowes, is a perfect example of how we continue to build and grow our community
without compromising our natural environment.
Works on the rehabilitation of Water Sensitive Urban Design elements at Seagrove
Estate, which includes the wetland area and raingardens, were undertaken throughout
2017/18. The rehabilitation works included removal of sediment from wetland ponds and
raingardens, reestablishment of raingardens and extensive revegetation of wetland areas
and raingardens including planting 5,500 plants.

Wonthaggi Recreation Reserve Club Facilities: $390,000
As one of the Shire’s key sporting venues, upgrade works were approved for Wonthaggi
Recreation Reserve’s Club facilities to not only provide an improved playing environment
but also to ensure players and visitors alike can enjoy a better social environment.
Supported by Club and sponsor input, the extensive refurbishment activities
commenced in November 2017 and took around four months to complete, in time for
the commencement of the 2018 football/netball season.
Major refurbishment of the social facilities and changing rooms included:
• new commercial kitchen
• upgraded toilet facilities including accessibility improvements
• installation of energy efficient lighting
• extension of change rooms and new ceiling
• improved/upgraded façade
As well as providing upgraded conditions for Wonthaggi Power Football Netball Club,
the facilities also provide great benefit for larger events also held at the venue including
the annual Bass Coast Agricultural Show and the Human Powered Vehicles Challenge.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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The Year in Review
Smiths Beach Road – Service Road Path: $99,000
In addition to fully Council funded works along sections of Smiths Beach Road in
2017/18, Council was successful in obtaining a $75,000 Transport Accident Commission
(TAC) grant to construct a new concrete path along Back Beach Road Service Road
between Smiths Beach Road and Dolphin Drive, Smiths Beach.
The Smiths Beach path is a popular path leading to a primary surf beach and shopping
hub, visited by many hundreds of people throughout the year, peaking during summer
periods and Grand Prix weekends. Council considers this area a high priority due to the
volume of pedestrians visiting and the history of the intersection.
Works included the construction of a 1.5 metre wide reinforced concrete path,
replacement of some existing driveway culverts to maintain adequate drainage flows
and reinstatement of the nature strip with topsoil and grass seed.
New connections from the local bus stop and to the greater Phillip Island path network
now provides pedestrians a safer and viable alternate transport option to visit the area.
This project is the first step to linking the Smiths Beach township to the path network
on the northern side of Back Beach Road.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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The Year in Review
Major Changes
This year has brought consolidation and collaboration with the group of Councillors
that were elected. They have provided effective advocacy for the provision of high
level investment into the area with the result being a number of State Government
funding committments for large projects including the Wonthaggi Hospital upgrade,
new senior campus for Wonthaggi Secondary College, shared Highball Stadium and
upgrade of Phillip Island Road/Back Beach Road intersection.

Major Achievements
Service Review Program
Council has committed to a series of service reviews which include the review of six
services per year. The purpose of the service reviews is:
• designed to find operational efficiencies and innovations to deliver services to
the community in accordance with the Council Plan and Long Term Financial Plan.
• our commitment to continuous improvement in what we do
• not about performance. In general, service reviews are designed to determine
the level of service we will provide and the most appropriate strategic model to
provide that service
See page 75 for more details.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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Our Council

Our Council
Bass Coast Profile

Economy and Employment

Bass Coast Shire Council is a local government authority
incorporated under the Local Government Act 1989
(Vic). It is located approximately 130km south-east of
Melbourne and is bounded by Western Port in the north
and west, Cardinia Shire in the north east, South Gippsland
Shire in the east and Bass Strait in the south.
The name Bass Coast was adopted as the official name
of the Shire when the local governments of Phillip Island,
Bass and Wonthaggi were amalgamated in 1994, along with
the incorporation of a small section of Woorayl.
Bass Coast’s main centres are Wonthaggi, Cowes (Phillip
Island), Inverloch, San Remo and Grantville. In addition,
Bass Coast comprises a further 28 towns.
Bass Coast is home to over 30,000 permanent residents.
However, its proximity to Melbourne makes it very
attractive to visitors and to people wanting to make a sea
change. During peak visitor periods, our population swells
to over 80,000.
Bass Coast boasts many beautiful beaches, unique nature
reserves and many major events that attract more than
3.5 million visitors each year, such as the Australian
Motorcycle Grand Prix at the Phillip Island Circuit.

Bass Coast Shire’s major industries for the 2017/18 period are health care and social assistance,
tourism, retail, construction, education and training, and agriculture.
Construction was the biggest contributor to Bass Coast’s gross revenue ($521m) and the fourth
largest employment sector with 1,223 (11.8 per cent of total jobs) of the workforce in Bass Coast. The
biggest employment sector was Health Care and Social Assistance employing 1,556 (14.36 per cent)
staff followed by Tourism employing 1,457 (13.44 per cent) staff.
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In previous years, Council has used data from the Tourism Research Australia and Tourism Satellite
Account but now sources its data from REMPLAN. According to REMPLAN, tourism is estimated to
generate approximately $245.2m in direct visitor expenditure and supports approximately 1,457 jobs.
Agri-tourism and agriculture contribute over $173.4m to the local economy through a combination
of traditional farming, such as dairy and meat production and processing, as well as many agricultural
boutique enterprises, including venison, free range eggs, olives, wineries and cheese making.
Of those aged 15 years and above, 93.6 per cent are in the labour force, either employed or actively
looking for work. This is just below the regional Victorian average of 94 per cent.
Unemployment is approximately 6.80 per cent. The median weekly household income is $927.
Key Gross Revenue and Employment Sectors **
Sector
Gross Revenue
%
Total employment
%
Health care and social
$177.7m
6.53%
1556
14.36%
assistance
Tourism
$245.2m
9.01%
1457
13.44%
Retail
$143.1m
5.26%
1367
12.61%
Construction
$521.1m
19.13%
1223
11.8%
Education and training
$84.3m
3.1%
760
7.01%
Agriculture
$173.4m
6.37%
636
5.87%
** REMPLAN data - employment data is place of work data and represents total numbers of
employees without any conversions to full-time equivalence.
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Our Council
Population

Council Customer Service Centres

According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, the estimated
residential population of Bass Coast was 34,223 (as at June 2017).
This represents an annual population change of 2.68 per cent
from the previous year. The proportion of residents aged over
50 is significantly higher in Bass Coast (48.7 per cent) than across
the state (33.4 per cent). Furthermore, 26.6% of our population is
aged over 65 years, compared to 15.60 per cent for the state.
At the end of the financial year 2017/18, there were 30,881
rateable properties in Bass Coast. This is an increase of 629
from the previous year. Reflecting the appeal of Bass Coast as a
holiday destination, approximately half of all ratepayers reside
outside the Shire.

Civic Centre
76 McBride Avenue, Wonthaggi 3995

History
The traditional owners of Bass Coast are the Bunurong/
Boonwurrung, members of the Kulin Nation. The area takes its
name from the explorer George Bass, who sighted it during an
expedition to prove the existence of Bass Strait in 1796.
European settlement dates back to 1826, when a military outpost
was set up at Corinella, the second permanent settlement in
the state. Another settlement was established on the Bass River
shortly after the founding of Melbourne in 1835.
In the early 1800s, timber was the primary industry of the area
and was shipped to Melbourne and beyond from several ports
along the coastline. The cleared land was used for farming and
grazing. In the 1860s, land was opened for selection, leading to
growth around Wonthaggi, largely due to coal mining.
The area continued to grow into the early 1900s, when many
townships and villages were established. The construction of the
first bridge to Phillip Island in the 1940s also spurred significant
growth.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

Cowes
91-97 Thompson Avenue, Cowes 3922
Inverloch
16 A’Beckett Street, Inverloch 3996
Grantville
1504-1510 Bass Highway, Grantville 3984
Email
basscoast@basscoast.vic.gov.au
Website
www.basscoast.vic.gov.au
Postal address
PO Box 118, Wonthaggi VIC 3995
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Our Councillors
On 22 October 2016 the Bass Coast community elected the current Council for a four year term. Council has been elected to provide leadership for the
good governance of the municipal district and the local community. The municipality is divided into three wards, represented by three Councillors in
each ward. The nine Councillors are the elected representatives of all residents and ratepayers across Bass Coast. They have responsibility for setting the
strategic direction for the municipality, policy development, identifying service standards and monitoring performance across the organisation.

Bunurong Ward

Island Ward

Western Port Ward

Cr Julian Brown

Cr Stephen Fullarton

Cr Geoff Ellis

(03) 5671 2123
0429 130 472
julian.brown@basscoast.vic.gov.au

(03) 5956 6379
0429 099 118
stephen.fullarton@basscoast.vic.gov.au

(03) 5671 2157
0428 840 868
geoff.ellis@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Les Larke

Cr Pamela Rothfield

Cr Bruce Kent

(03) 5671 2121
0428 747 461
les.larke@basscoast.vic.gov.au

(Mayor 1 July 2017 - 30 June 2018)

(03) 5671 2156
0428 741 843
bruce.kent@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Brett Tessari

Cr Michael Whelan

Cr Clare Le Serve

(Deputy Mayor 1 July 2017 - 30 June 2018)

(03) 5956 6394
0429 129 811
michael.whelan@basscoast.vic.gov.au

(03) 5671 2155
0448 083 286
clare.leserve@basscoast.vic.gov.au

(03) 5671 2122
0428 857 845
brett.tessari@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

(03) 5956 6393
0428 936 025
pamela.rothfield@basscoast.vic.gov.au
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Our People

Our People
Organisational structure
Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO has responsibility for the day to day management of operations in
accordance with the strategic directions of the Council Plan . In 2017/18 four General Managers and the CEO form the Executive Team and led the organisation.

Chief Executive Officer
Paul Buckley PSM
Paul holds a Graduate Diploma of Business Management from Monash University and has completed the Senior Executives in State and Local Government
Program at Harvard University. He has also completed the Colloquium through the Cranlana Programme and is a graduate and member of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors. A proven manager, leader and motivator, Paul is a member of Local Government Managers Australia and the International City and County
Managers Association. In addition, Paul holds positions on a variety of community committees. In the 2012 Queen’s Birthday Honours, Paul was awarded the Public
Service Medal for his outstanding public service and sustained leadership to the local community.

Senior Officers Reporting Directly to the Chief Executive Officer
Mark Brady, General Manager Finance and Organisation Development
Mark has over 30 years of experience in local government including 15 at the
executive level. Prior to joining Bass Coast, he spent five years at the City
of Port Phillip, initially as General Manager Corporate Services and then as
Executive Manager Governance and Culture.
Mark has played a leading role in developing stronger financial management
and sustainability at Bass Coast whilst also building a high performing
organisational culture.
Mark brings a diverse portfolio of skills to the role with demonstrated
leadership across a diverse range of local government services including
Planning, Human Resources and Organisation Development, Finance,
Information Services, Governance, Environment, Libraries and Local Laws.
He holds a Bachelor of Business, a Graduate Diploma of Business, is a
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, and is an
accredited executive coach, Myers–Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI) and Human
Synergistics practitioner.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

Felicity Sist, General Manager Infrastructure
Felicity is General Manager of Infrastructure and Environment. Felicity has
22 years local government experience at Bass Coast Shire Council and has
qualifications in Civil Engineering and Business Administration.
Prior to this, Felicity worked in the construction industry and state and
federal government agencies.
Felicity is responsible for ensuring our environment is managed in a
sustainable manner and that infrastructure is managed appropriately
through its lifecycle. Her division does this for the benefit of current
and future generations, through the development of long term asset
management plans and implementation of the natural environment strategy.
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Our People
Senior Officers Reporting Directly to the Chief Executive Officer
Allison Jones, General Manager Advocacy Character and Economy
Allison has over two decades of experience working for local and state
governments, including 11 years at the executive level.
Prior to joining Bass Coast Shire Council in March 2015, Allison spent nine years
at Latrobe City Council, initially as Manager Economic Development and then as
General Manager Economic Sustainability. She has also worked for the Victorian
Government in both economic policy and regional policy roles and the City of
Casey. Allison is passionate about sustainable development, customer services
and advocacy for regional communities. She is a leader who lives continuous
improvement, a team player with drive, persuasive skills and an underlying
dedication to creating a culture of excellence.
Allison holds a Bachelor of Commerce.
David Elder, General Manager Healthy Communities and Governance
David started his career in the private sector working in tourism and hospitality,
and then moved into the marketing sector for a number of years. His career has
spanned private, not for profit and international appointments all in senior manager
roles.
David spent six years in senior management roles with City of Latrobe and joined
Bass Coast Shire Council in 2014.
David has a strong reputation for the development of relationships with the
community and takes a strategic view to achieve the community’s long-term vision.
He is a recognised change agent and culture builder with high-level business skills.
David holds a Bachelor of Business.
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Council Plan and Municipal Public Health and
Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021

Organisation Chart as at 30 June 2018

Advocacy
Representing the community
Economic Development
Expanding, attracting and retaining business and investment
Environment
Maintain and protect the natural environment
Governance
We are responsive, open, transparent and financially sustainable
Health and Wellbeing
We are a healthy and active community
Liveability
Enjoying the place we live
Our Character
Celebrating the uniqueness of our townships

Strategic Principles
Performance Management
Deliver what you promise, when you promise it
Financial Management
Deliver within the financial parameters that have been set, ie
budget and long term financial plan
Relationship Development and Management
Engaging and building relationships with key stakeholders

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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Council staff
A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff by organisational structure, employment type and gender is set out below.
These figures are based on actuals and therefore do not include vacancies.
Employment
type/Gender

Executive Office
FTE

Finance and
Organisation
Development
FTE

Casual - female

Healthy Communities
and Governance
FTE

Infrastructure and
Environment
FTE

1.4

Casual - male
Permanent FT female
Permanent FTmale
Permanent PTfemale
Permanent PTmale
Temporary FT female
Temporary FTmale
Temporary PT female
Temporary PT male
Grand Total

Advocacy, Character
and Economy
FTE

Grand Total FTE
(excluding vacancies)

2.3

3.7

0.6

0.6

1

29

28

12

21

91

1

4

16

88

11

120

0.9

7.6

42.8

2.6

5.9

59.8

1.1

4.8

5.2

11.1

1
1

1
1

2
0

0.8
2.9

42.5

0.8
95

108.8

40.8

290

FT - Full Time
PT - Part Time
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A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff categorised by employment classification and gender is set out below. These figures are based
on actuals and therefore do not include vacancies.
Employment Classification

Band 1
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8
All other FTE
Grand total

Female FTE

Male FTE

5.3
18.7
4
23.4
43.9
24.6
16.6
5
14
155.5

0.3
6.4
42
12.8
11.8
19.9
15
14
12.3
134.5
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Grand Total
(not including
vacancies)
5.6
25.1
46
36.2
55.7
44.5
31.6
19
26.3
290

Band ‘other’ is anyone who is not a banded employee (Senior Executive
Officers, Trainees/Apprentices etc.).

25

Our People
Equal employment opportunity program
A Council with 40 or more members of staff must have developed and
implemented an equal opportunity program. Council’s Working Together Policy
and training program is designed to eliminate discrimination and promote equal
opportunity in relation to employment matters.
A key objective of Council’s Working Together Policy and training program
is to ensure there is no discrimination relating to the characteristics listed
under the Equal Opportunity Act 2010 such as race, colour, sex, marital status,
parenthood, physical or mental impairment, age, religious or political affiliation,
gender identity and sexual orientation.
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Additional objectives include ensuring the workplace is free from bullying and
harassment. Council has a formal grievance procedure readily available to all
supervisors and staff in the rare circumstance where an Equal Employment
Opportunity (EEO)/Working Together breach is detected.
Awareness of the Working Together Policy is mandatory for all employees
and Councillors and is reviewed every four years (post Councillor elections).
All new staff are provided with a hard copy of the Working Together Policy
and an introduction to EEO principles at the mandatory Corporate Induction
Day. Working Together training is provided to all staff with regular workshops
timetabled throughout the year to capture all new staff and existing staff
requiring refresher training.
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Other staff matters
Professional development
Council has a strong commitment to high performance across the organisation
and has a number of staff performance and professional development
programs in place. Performance development is an ongoing process and regular
discussions are typically held between employees and their supervisors. This is
developed in alignment with strategic priorities as well as in response to needs
identified through performance and development plans.
White Ribbon Australia
The prevention of violence against women works primarily through promoting
gender equity and building respectful and safe relationships and breaking
down stereotypes of women. Council is one of the first workplaces to
become accredited in this area, and is leading the way to help improve some
confronting statistics. This is a prevention approach consistent with Council’s
health and wellbeing planning and aims to increase both the confidence and
safety of staff members and those in the community.
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Health and safety
During 2017/18 Council continued its focus on health and safety, striving to
meet our aim of working together to maintain a safety culture that supports an
incident and injury-free workplace for all employees, Councillors, contractors,
visitors and the public.
Our organisation’s leaders, working alongside our Staff and OHS Consultative
Committee (SOCC) have maintained focus:
• identification and elimination of Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)
hazards
• early intervention when there are signs of an injury or illness
• planning and supporting return to work plans to minimise lost time
Council has also commenced the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV)
WorkCare project which is a three year project requiring a complete review
of our OHS Management Systems in order to provide workers compensation
insurance through an industry based self-insurance scheme.
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Our Performance
Planning and Accountability Framework
The Planning and Accountability Framework is found in Part 6 of the Local
Government Act 1989.
The Act requires Councils to prepare the following planning and reporting
documents:
• a Council Plan within the six months after each general election, or by 30
June, whichever is later
• a Strategic Resource Plan for a period of at least four years and include this
in the Council Plan
• a budget for each financial year
• an annual report in respect of each financial year
The diagram on the right shows the relationships between the key planning
and reporting documents that make up the planning and accountability
framework for local government. It also shows that there are opportunities
for community and stakeholder input and feedback at each stage of the
planning and reporting cycle.

Planning

Time horizon
Medium Term

Council Plan
• Strategic Objectives
• Strategies
• Strategic Indicators

Reporting

Timing
Jan–June

Stakeholder
and
community
engagement

Strategic Resource Plan
• Financial Statements
• Statements of non-financial
resources

Feb-June

Budget
• Services and initiatives
• Service outcome indicators
• Major initiatives
• Financial statements

Mar-June

Short Term

Annual Report
• Report of operations
• Financial statements
• Performance statement

Jul – Sep

Council Plan
The Council Plan 2017-21 includes strategic objectives, strategies for achieving these for the four year period, strategic indicators for monitoring
achievement of the strategic objectives and a Strategic Resource Plan. The following are the seven strategic objectives as detailed in the Council Plan.
1. Advocacy

Representing the community

2. Economic Development

Expanding, attracting and retaining business and investment

3. Environment

Maintain and protect the natural environment

4. Governance

We are responsive, open, transparent and financially sustainable

5. Health and Wellbeing

We are a healthy and active community

6. Liveability

Enjoying the place we live

7. Our Character

Celebrating the uniqueness of our townships

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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Performance
Council’s performance against each strategic objective for 2017/18 has been reported to demonstrate how Council is performing in
achieving the 2017-21 Council Plan.
Performance has been measured as follows:
• results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan
• progress in relation to the major initiatives identified in the budget
• services funded in the budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided those services
• results against the prescribed service performance indicators and measures
The following sections review the performance of Council against the Council Plan and the services, initiatives, major initiatives and
service performance indicators for each business area.

Strategic Objective 1: Advocacy
To achieve our objective of Advocacy, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services.
Major initiatives
Develop an Advocacy Strategy

Progress
100%

Service

Description

Mayor and Councillor support

This advocacy item includes the activities related to the Mayor, Councillors
and associated support.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
403
495
92
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Strategic Objective 2: Economic Development
To achieve our objective of Economic Development, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and
responsive service.
Major initiatives
Implement the Car Ferry Business Case Project
Implement Year 1 and relevant Year 2 actions in the Phillip Island and San Remo Visitor Economy Strategy 2035
Implement Year 2 actions of the Economic Development Strategy

Progress
100%
100%
100%

Service

Description

Economic Development Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the economic development
strategic objective.

Economic Development

This service supports local business operators to build their skills and run more efficient business
operations, leading to increased investment and employment opportunities. It also facilitates
business investment into the region.
This service is responsible for coordinating Council’s involvement in event activities in the Shire.

Events

Tourism

This service assists with tourism development for the region, provides visitor services through the
operation of Visitor Information Centres and provides management of the Inverloch Community
Hub.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
174
174
0
316
325
(9)
546
572
(26)
1,073
1,156
(83)
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Strategic Objective 3: Environment
To achieve our objective of Environment, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services.
Major initiatives
Implement priority actions of the Natural Environment Strategy
Introduce Council’s kerbside food organics and green organics collection service

Progress
100%
100%

Service

Description

Coast and Bushland Management

This service manages coast and bushland reserves to ensure safe use and enjoyment by the community
and conservation of biodiversity.

Climate Change and Sustainability

This service helps to maintain and improve the local natural environment by complying with
environmental regulations, mitigating and adapting to the effects of climate change, providing
environmental education for staff and the community, and recording and reporting on the organisations
greenhouse emissions and water use.
This service provides the effective management of Council’s waste services including the contracted
collection of domestic, smaller commercial, public place garbage and recycling and domestic hard waste.
This service monitors and investigates reports of illegally dumped rubbish and litter including issuing
compliance notices and infringements, and aims to reduce waste to landfill in accordance with the State
Government’s “Towards Zero Waste” strategy through waste and recycling education programs.
This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the Natural Environment strategic
objective.

Waste Services

Sustainable Environment
Management
Land and Catchment

This service is responsible for managing Council’s coast and bushland reserves to ensure safe use and
enjoyment by the community and conservation of biodiversity.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
891
1,235
(344)
174
210
(36)
7,994
6,600
1,394

187
223
(36)
281
283
(2)
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

Satisfaction
Kerbside bin collection requests
[Number of kerbside garbage and recycling bin collection
requests / Number of kerbside bin collection households]
x1000

28.53

42.69

Council serviced 25,929 kerbside collection properties and received 1,107
Customer Requests for 2017/18 compared to 719 Customer Requests for
2016/17. The increase in requests can be attributed to the introduction
of a three bin system incorporating Kerbside Food and Garden Organics
collection in September 2017.

Service Standard
Kerbside collection bins missed
[Number of kerbside garbage and recycling collection
bins missed / Number of scheduled kerbside garbage and
recycling collection bin lifts] x10,000

1.66

0.92

The low number of missed bins compared to number of bins collected
demonstrates the continued high level of service of the Shire’s waste
contract service. Camera systems on the collection trucks have assisted in
verifying whether reports of missed bins are accurate.

Service Cost
Cost of kerbside garbage bin collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside garbage bin collection service
/ Number of kerbside garbage collection bins]

$102.43

$70.67

This result reflects the direct cost of the kerbside landfill bin collection.
It includes the cost of bin collection, landfill operational costs associated
with the kerbside service, incorporating the cost of the EPA Landfill
Levy for the disposal of waste. The decrease in cost also reflects the
reduction of kerbside landfill bin collection from weekly to fortnightly as
of September 2017.

Service Cost
Cost of kerbside recyclables collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside recyclables bin collection
service / Number of kerbside recyclables collection bins]

$42

$53.37

The increase in cost of kerbside recycling is primarily due to the resetting
of processing costs imposed on collectors as a result of the Chinese
National Sword Policy.

Waste Diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from
kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green
organics collected from kerbside bins] x100

32.40%

70.22%

The significant increase in Bass Coast Shire Council’s diversion rate can
be attributed to the introduction of a three bin system incorporating
Kerbside Food and Garden Organics collection in September 2017. The
organics collection is weekly and the landfill bin is collected fortnightly
to promote diversion of waste from landfill. In the future, diversion is
expected to increase with this service model operating over a full year.

Waste Management
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Strategic Objective 4: Governance
To achieve our objective of Governance, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services.
Major initiatives
Review the Communications and Engagement Strategy 2015-18

Progress
100%

Service

Description

Chief Executive Office

The Chief Executive Office provides overall leadership and
management of the organisation whilst ensuring the implementation of council decisions.

Governance
Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the governance strategic objective.

Accounting

This service provides responsive and reliable accounting services and reporting to enable the organisation
to make effective and timely decisions; ensures the organisation meets its financial legislative and
statutory compliance obligations; and accurately accounts for and reports on the activities of Council.
This service provides contract management support services, coordinates the tender process, prepares
tender and quote documentation; monitors officer obligations under the Competition and Consumer
Act (2010) and monitors spending with suppliers to ensure legislative compliance; maintains and
administers procurement systems; and provides fleet management services (including services for plant
management). This service also provides a coordinated approach for the Wonthaggi Civic Centre for the
amenity of staff and the community.
This service is responsible for raising and collecting ratepayer revenue and special charges; maintaining
property data including street and property addressing; providing valuation services, including revaluation
of all properties in the municipality every two years and supplementary valuations as required.

Procurement, Facility Management
and Fleet

Revenue
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
687
636
51
422
681
(259)
815
518
297
342
239
103

355
437
(82)
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Service

Description

Communications and
Engagement

This service informs staff and community on key Council issues; provides professional advice on consultation and
engagement within Council; and assists and educates Council staff on effective and professional communication with
the community and stakeholders in order to raise the profile of Council and protect Council’s image.

Corporate Planning,
Performance and
Reporting

This services provides an oversight to Council’s Corporate Planning and Business Planning and improvement processes
that integrate with risk management and insurance; ensures Council has the appropriate process, authorisations
and delegations in order to make transparent and accountable decisions; provides support and compliance to
Committees of Management and the Wonthaggi and San Remo Cemetery Trusts; manages Council’s property
portfolio including Crown Land where Council is the appointed Committee of Management; and oversees Council’s
Service Review Program.

1,082
1,268
(186)

Customer Service

This service provides frontline customer service to our customers and ratepayers to provide services and to enable
contact with Council staff about services provided by Council.

Corporate Information

This service assists the organisation to ensure records are captured efficiently and accurately; provides usable
data and statistical support for organisation decision making; accurately digitises physical records into a compliant
electronic format; and conducts staff training and inductions in Information Management Awareness, Information
Privacy, Freedom of Information and Confidentiality.

1,827
1,386
441
486
559
(73)

Information Technology

This service provides, supports and maintains reliable and cost effective communications and computing systems,
facilities and infrastructure to Council staff enabling them to deliver services in a smart, productive and efficient way.

Human Resources

This service delivers workforce planning and recruitment, employee relations, human resources information and
reporting, and payment of salaries and wages to Council employees.

Organisation
Development, People and
Culture

This service provides leadership, advice, programs and support to the whole organisation in the areas of OHS,
WorkCover, health and wellbeing, payroll, leadership and organisation culture, and learning and development.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
426
567
(141)

3,051
559
(73)
546
515
31
826
821
5
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

Transparency
Council decisions made at meetings closed to the public
[Number of Council resolutions made at ordinary or
special meetings of Council, or at meetings of a special
committee consisting only of Councillors, closed to the
public / Number of Council resolutions made at ordinary
or special meetings of Council or at meetings of a special
committee consisting only of Councillors ] x100

3.43%

4.08%

At 2017/18 Council meetings there were 10 of 245 decisions made closed
to the public compared to 8 of 233 decisions in 2016/17.

Consultation and Engagement
Satisfaction with community consultation and
engagement
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how
Council has performed on community consultation and
engagement]

51

52

A continued increase in satisfaction levels is indicative of the
implementation of Council’s Communications and Engagement Strategy
which is focussed on improved engagement with the community and
explaining the reasons behind Council decisions.

Attendance
Councillor attendance at council meetings
[The sum of the number of Councillors who attended
each ordinary and special Council meeting / (Number
of ordinary and special Council meetings) × (Number of
Councillors elected at the last Council general election)]
x100

97.79%

94.87%

Bass Coast Shire Councillors’ commitment to actively serve the
community is reflected in a 94.87% attendance rate at 11 ordinary Council
meetings and 2 special Council meetings held in 2017/18.

Governance
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

$47,367.97

$43,364.11

47

49

Material Variations and Comments

Governance
Service Cost
Cost of governance
[Direct cost of the governance service / Number of
Councillors elected at the last Council general election]

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how
council has performed in making decisions in the interest
of the community]
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Variation can be attributed in part to the Mayor using a personal vehicle,
therefore Council was not required to provide a Mayoral vehicle (only fuel
reimbursement). Also, this period of reporting covers the second year of
Council term. In the first year of Council term costs included provision of
new equipment and uniforms for newly elected Councillors. At the 2016
election 8 of 9 new Councillors were elected. The cost of professional
development for new Councillors from the time of the election to the
completion of their first full year in office in 2017 contributed to a higher
level of expenditure.
A continued increase in satisfaction levels is indicative of the
implementation of Council’s Communications and Engagement Strategy
which is focussed on improved engagement with the community and
explaining the reasons behind Council decisions.
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Strategic Objective 5: Health and Wellbeing
To achieve our objective of Health and Wellbeing, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services.
Major initiatives
Complete the Municipal Recreation Plan

Progress
Deferred**

Service

Description

Healthy Communities Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the healthy communities strategic
objective.

Environmental Health

This service provides Environmental Health services such as immunisation programs and monitoring
compliance with health regulations to the community and businesses to promote health and wellbeing.

Aged Disability Services

This service provides a range of home and community care services for the aged and disabled including
home delivered meals, personal care, and home maintenance.

Community Strengthening

This service provides support services to enable our diverse community to be strong and healthy,
including senior citizens support, maternal and child health, kindergartens and housing support.

Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
868
799
69
206
243
(37)
306
997
(691)
233
308
(75)

** The Project Board has approved in principal an extension of time for the adoption of the Municipal Recreation Plan, subject to Council approval. An expanded
scope, high level of community participation and information received through consultation as well as consideration of a longer public exhibition period are
factors in this decision. If the extension is approved, the Plan will be provided to Council for adoption in September 2018 and will be reported as part of the
Major Initiatives in the 2018/19 reporting program.
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

2.62 days

1.73 days

In 2017/18 Council received 77 food complaints with a total number of 133
days between receipt and first response action for all food complaints.
Food related requests are prioritised for completion, with the majority
actioned on the day they are reported to Council.

98.51%

99.45%

In 2017/18 there were 360 out of 362 food premises assessments
completed. This is an improvement on the result of 98.51 per cent
recorded for the 2016/17 period.

$303

$344.93

There has been an increase in the direct cost of food safety services
which is attributed to annual increases associated with staffing, IT, vehicle
and equipment costs. These service improvement cost increases have
also attributed to an improved result for actioning food complaints,
food safety assessments and critical and non-compliant food premises
notifications.

Food Safety
Timeliness
Time taken to action food complaints
[Number of days between receipt and first response
action for all food complaints / Number of food
complaints]
Service Standard
Food safety assessments
[Number of registered class 1 food premises and class
2 food premises that receive an annual food safety
assessment in accordance with the Food Act 1984 /
Number of registered class 1 food premises and class
2 food premises that require an annual food safety
assessment in accordance with the Food Act 1984] x100
Service Cost
Cost of food safety service
[Direct cost of the food safety service / Number of food
premises registered or notified in accordance with the
Food Act 1984]
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

96.59%

98.11%

Council places high importance on ensuring critical and major noncompliances are satisfactorily followed up. Enhanced internal processes
and reporting has enabled more accurate tracking of these notifications
which has led to an improved response to identified non-compliances
over the past four years.

Food Safety
Health and Safety
Critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance outcome
notifications and major non-compliance notifications
about a food premises followed up / Number of critical
non-compliance outcome notifications and major noncompliance notifications about a food premises] x100

Reporting on Home and Community Care (HACC) LGPRF Performance Indicators ceased on 1 July 2016 due to the introduction of the Commonwealth
Government’s NDIS and CHSP programs.
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Strategic Objective 6: Liveability
To achieve our objective of Liveability, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services.
Major initiatives
Complete an Open Space Asset Management Plan
Complete the Bass Valley Children’s Centre
Review of the Capital Investment Framework

Progress
100%
100%
100%

Service

Description

Infrastructure Management

This service is responsible for managing the infrastructure activities to deliver the sustainable
development and growth strategic objective.

Asset Management

This service plans for the preservation, protection and expansion of existing and future infrastructure
assets for their maximum possible design life and minimum ongoing life-cycle cost, while responding
to the community’s changing needs and expectations. This service also provides advice to Planning
Approvals and Strategic Planning on new developments across Bass Coast.
This service protects the value of Council’s assets through effective asset management systems and
processes to deliver the best outcome for the community.

Asset Management Systems

Geographic Information Systems
(GIS)

This service provides Geographic Information Systems for Council including the management of
software architecture and tools to enable strategic planning across the organisation.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
1,117
1,032
85
957
1,204
(247)
479
463
16
233
296
(63)
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Service

Description

Civil Construction and Design

This service undertakes design, tendering, contract management and supervision of various works within
Council’s Capital Works Program to ensure delivery to a quality standard, to scope, on time and on
budget.
This service maintains Council buildings in accordance with the Building Asset Management Plan.

Building Maintenance

Plant

This service provides plant and vehicle management services to the Infrastructure Maintenance
Department.

Roads

This service maintains Council’s roads and road related infrastructure.

Local Laws and Emergency
Management

This service assists the organisation to ensure Council and the municipality is in a state of preparedness
to fulfil its responsibilities in Emergency Management. The service also implements Council’s
responsibilities under legislation including the Domestic Animals Act (1994) and Council’s Local Laws, to
promote community safety and promulgate harmonious community relationships.
This service has the responsibility to frame and respond to the challenges of social inclusion that present
to Council. This service provides and gives support to community development, community planning,
community grants, youth and social planning, rural access and Inter Council Aboriginal Consultative
Committee.
This service supports, encourages and develops leisure projects, programs and services which will benefit
the community and enhance the quality of life for those living and working in and visiting Bass Coast
Shire.

Social and Community Planning

Recreation and Culture
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
490
893
(403)
752
651
101
731
361
370
2,185
4,083
(1,898)
803
841
(38)
1,053
1,258
(205)
723
864
(136)
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Service

Description

Libraries

This service provides library services that cater for the expectations and needs of residents.

Leisure Centres

This service provides a range of recreational facilities including an aquatic centre, fully equipped
gymnasiums, and an extensive range of recreational programs and opportunities accessible to individuals
of all ages, sexes and abilities.

Performance Indicators

Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
1,924
2,047
(123)
867
799
68

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

7.45

9.44

Council maintains 551 kilometres of sealed local roads. We received a total
of 52 sealed local road requests in 2017/18 compared to 41 requests in
2016/17.

99.82%

99.90%

Council has addressed the majority of roads outside of intervention
based on the 2014 network condition audit. There is now just 565 metres
(0.1%) outside of intervention levels from a sealed network totalling 551
kilometres. Council is currently undertaking a condition audit of the
entire road network. As a result the asset database cannot be updated
from the end of January until the condition survey has been finalised and
loaded back into the system. It is expected that the percentage of roads
below the intervention level will increase with this new data.

Roads
Satisfaction of Use
Sealed local road requests
[Number of sealed local road requests / Kilometres of
sealed local roads ] x100
Condition
Sealed local roads below the intervention level
[Number of kilometres of sealed local roads below the
renewal intervention level set by Council / Kilometres of
sealed local roads] x100
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

Service Cost
Cost of sealed local road reconstruction
[Direct cost of sealed local road reconstruction / Square
metres of sealed local roads reconstructed]

$33.53

$53.46

Service Cost
Cost of sealed local road resealing
[Direct cost of sealed local road resealing / Square
metres of sealed local roads resealed]

$7.24

$9.78

Council’s pavement reconstruction costs are comparably higher than
the previous financial year. This is due to this financial year’s projects
predominantly being located in urban areas. Due to higher traffic
volumes, urban road projects typically need to be constructed with more
material and as a result are more expensive. Higher costs are also realised
as there are more adjustments required to surrounding infrastructure such
as drainage, services, vehicle crossings and more traffic management is
required.
The square metre rate for road resealing has increased this financial year
as the proportion of sites being treated with asphalt (higher cost per
square metre) increased when compared with the previous year which
had a higher proportion of spray seal treatments (lower cost per square
metre).

48

47

Roads

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed local roads
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how
council has performed on the condition of sealed local
roads]
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Council maintains a strong commitment and focus in improving its
road network. It is important to note that the survey results are also a
reflection of the state controlled roads within the municipality.
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

6.40

6.46

There were 43,071 items in the library collections with 278,239 loans made
for the 2017/18 year.

Resource Standard
Standard of library collection
[Number of library collection items purchased in the last
5 years / Number of library collection items] x100

74.91%

79.84%

Bass Coast libraries have continued to have a very high collection renewal
rate with nearly 80% of the collection being renewed in the last five
years.

Service Cost
Cost of library service
[Direct cost of the library service / Number of visits]

$5.83

$6.62

24.04%

23.70%

Libraries
Utilisation
Library collection usage
[Number of library collection item loans / Number of
library collection items]

Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library members / Municipal
population] x100
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A lower capital expenditure spend by West Gippsland Regional Library
Corporation has resulted in a decrease in library costs for 2017/18.

An active library member is defined as a member who has borrowed a
library collection item. A reporting review by West Gippsland Libraries
found that reporting for this measure had previously incorrectly included
library members who had used public computers and Wi-Fi but not
borrowed an item. In 2017/18 Bass Coast Shire libraries had a 23.70 per
cent result based on 8,112 active library members. In 2016/17 the amended
result was 24.04 per cent based on 8,012 active library members.
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

Service Standard
Health inspections of aquatic facilities
[Number of authorised officer inspections of Council
aquatic facilities / Number of Council aquatic facilities]

2

1

Bass Coast Shire has one aquatic facility. One inspection was completed
in August 2017 ensuring appropriate water quality standards are
maintained.

Health and Safety
Reportable safety incidents at aquatic facilities
[Number of WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety
incidents]

0

0

No Worksafe reportable incidents occurred in the 2017/18 year.

Service Cost
Cost of indoor aquatic facilities
[Direct cost of indoor aquatic facilities less income
received / Number of visits to indoor aquatic facilities]

$2.36

$2.60

The increase in costs relates to the agreed payment schedule as outlined
in the five year term of the contract between Bass Coast Shire Council
and the YMCA.

Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Municipal
population]

4.65

4.53

The number of visits to the aquatic centre over the last three years has
increased from 138,010 to 154,959. The municipal population has grown
by 2,190 during this time, therefore causing an overall increase in this
indicator over the last three years. Larger increases in earlier years are
seen as a result of updated processes in relation to the recording of
aquatic centre visits.

Aquatic Facilities

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

Timeliness
Time taken to action animal management requests
[Number of days between receipt and first response
action for all animal management requests / Number of
animal management requests]
Service Standard
Animals reclaimed
[Number of animals reclaimed / Number of animals
collected] x100

2.42 days

2.56 days

50.09%

56.41%

Service Cost
Cost of animal management service
[Direct cost of the animal management service / Number
of registered animals]

$43.46

$37.36

Council promotes responsible pet ownership at every opportunity.
Council Officers have worked to significantly increase the number of
registered cats and dogs in Bass Coast Shire by over 1,000. This has
reduced the direct cost of animal management in Bass Coast Shire.

Health and Safety
Animal management prosecutions
[Number of successful animal management prosecutions]

6

11

The number is reflective of the successful Animal Management
prosecutions during 2017/18 (excluding unpaid fines). There was
an increase in the serious dog attack cases reported to Council
during 2017/18 leading to an increase in Animal Management related
prosecutions.

Animal Management
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Animal management requests are triaged by Council staff. Public risk and
animal welfare requests, such as stock at large, dog attack/dog rushes and
dog and cat pickups are dealt with as soon as possible by Council staff.
Other animal management requests that are not considered a public risk/
animal welfare issue are dealt with when resources are available.
Council promotes responsible pet ownership at every opportunity. All
animals that come in to our pound are checked for registration tags
and a microchip. We promote unidentifiable found animals through our
website and through our Facebook page. Council works closely with the
community in returning animals to their owners.
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Strategic Objective 7: Our Character
To achieve our objective of Our Character, we will continue to plan, deliver and improve high quality, cost effective, accessible and responsive services.
Major initiatives
Following adoption of Council Plan, undertake a review of the Bass Coast Planning Scheme
Implement Wonthaggi North East Precinct Structure Plan into the Bass Coast Planning Scheme

Progress
100%
100%

Service

Description

Parks

This service maintains open spaces including parks, gardens, reserves, foreshores and sporting ovals.

Sustainable Development
and Growth Management

This service is responsible for managing the sustainable development and growth activities to deliver the
sustainable development and growth strategic objective.

Building Services

This service is responsible for the assessment and determination of building applications, conducting building
inspections, advising residents on building-related matters and implementing pool safety and essential safety audits.

Enforcement

This service enforces the Bass Coast Planning Scheme including the management and investigation of complaints,
liaison and negotiation to achieve positive outcomes after breaches have occurred and the legal activities
associated with Planning Enforcement.
This service provides assessment of planning permit applications against the various requirements of the Bass Coast
Planning Scheme and the Planning and Environment Act (1987) to ensure that development across the Shire is
appropriately planned and controlled.
This service maintains the Bass Coast Planning Scheme by development and delivery of key strategic planning
projects and policies, and the assessment of planning scheme amendments. This service also plans for recreation
facilities and services to meet the current and future needs of the community.

Statutory Planning

Strategic Planning
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
3,409
4,353
(944)
688
603
85
180
192
(12)
120
107
13
333
788
(455)
415
1,003
(588)
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Performance Indicators

Result
2016/17

Result
2017/18

Material Variations and Comments

76 days

78 days

This result is a minor variation to the 2016/17 result.

75%

82.49%

A continued focus on process improvement has resulted in a significant
increase in the number of applications decided within the 60 day
statutory timeframe. An increase in VicSmart applications resulted in 33 of
34 VicSmart applications processed within the required 10 day timeframe.

$2,026.13

$1,908.51

A continued focus on process improvement has resulted in a decrease
in cost this year and is also reflected in improved timelines for
determination of applications.

40%

75%

Statutory Planning
Timeliness
Time taken to decide planning applications
[The median number of days between receipt of a
planning application and a decision on the application]
Service standard
Planning applications decided within required time frames
[(Number of regular planning application decisions
made within 60 days) + (Number of VicSmart planning
application decisions made within 10 days) / Number of
planning application decisions made] x100
Service Cost
Cost of statutory planning service
[Direct cost of the statutory planning service / Number
of planning applications received]
Decision Making
Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside
Council’s decision in relation to a planning application
/ Number of VCAT decisions in relation to planning
applications] x100
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2015, 2016 and 2018 saw only one decision of council set aside, with higher
overall Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) decisions made
in earlier years. 2017 saw three of Council’s decisions set aside by VCAT.
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Performance Statement
Description of municipality
Bass Coast Shire Council is a local government authority incorporated under the Local
Government Act 1989 (Vic). It is located about 130km south east of Melbourne and is
bounded by Western Port in the north and west, Cardinia Shire in the north east, South
Gippsland Shire in the east and Bass Strait in the south.
Bass Coast’s main centres are Wonthaggi, Cowes (Phillip Island), Inverloch, San Remo and
Grantville. In addition, the Shire comprises a further 28 towns.
Bass Coast is home to over 30,000 permanent residents. However, its proximity to
Melbourne makes it very attractive to visitors and to people wanting to make a sea
change. During peak periods, our population swells to over 80,000. The Shire boasts
many beautiful beaches, unique nature reserves and many major events that attract
more than 3.4 million visitors each year, such as the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix at
the Phillip Island Circuit.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Indicator/measure

Results
2015

Results
2016

Results
2017

Results
2018

Material Variations

Expenses per head of municipal population
[Total expenses/Municipal population]

$2,133.26

$2,223.99

$2,156.74

$2,164.68

Infrastructure per head of municipal population
[Value of infrastructure/Municipal population]

$13,994.15

$13,736.93

$13,531.68

$13,232.71

There has been a continuous increase in the
municipal population over the four years. A high
asset amortisation expense experienced in 2016
and the introduction of a new three tier bin system
during 2018 both caused a slight rise in expenses in
their respective years.
A continuous increase in population has resulted in
lower average values of infrastructure per head.

33.68

34.52

35.82

36.76

$1,700.63

$1,800.77

$1,823.33

$1,866.88

The introduction of a new three tier bin system
during 2017/2018 has increased the amount of own
source revenue per head of municipal population.

$357.21

$240.13

$406.76

$298.97

Recurrent grants were elevated in 2016/17 due to the
early receipt of half of the annual Commonwealth
Financial Assistance Grant in that year.

4.00

4.00

4.00

3.00

Population

Population density per length of road
[Municipal population/Kilometres of local roads]

A continuous increase in population has resulted in a
higher density per length of road.

Own-source revenue
Own-source revenue per head of municipal population
[Own-source revenue/Municipal population]
Recurrent grants
Recurrent grants per head of municipal population
[Recurrent grants/Municipal population]
Disadvantage
Relative socio-economic disadvantage
[Index of Relative Socio-economic Disadvantage by
decile]
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Definitions
“adjusted underlying revenue” means total income other than:
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land
“local road” means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road
authority under the Road Management Act 2004
“population” means the resident population estimated by council
“own-source revenue” means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under
the control of council (including government grants)
“relative socio-economic disadvantage”, in relation to a municipality, means the relative socioeconomic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant financial year, of the area in which
the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage
(Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA
“SEIFA” means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the
Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website
“unrestricted cash” means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18
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Service Performance Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Service/indicator/measure

Results
2015

Results Results Results Material Variations
2016
2017
2018

Aquatic facilities
Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities/Municipal population]

Animal management
Health and safety
Animal management prosecutions
[Number of successful animal management prosecutions]

2.20

4.31

4.65

4.53

The number of visits to the aquatic centre over the last three
years has increased from 138,010 to 154,959. The municipal
population has grown by 2,190 during this time, therefore
causing in an overall increase in this indicator. Larger increases
in earlier years are seen as a result of updated processes in
relation to the recording aquatic centre visits.

16

5

6

11

87%

92.26%

96.59%

98.11%

Council places high importance on ensuring critical and major
non-compliances are satisfactorily followed up. Enhanced
internal processes and reporting has enabled more accurate
tracking of these notifications which has led to an improved
response to identified non-compliances over the past four
years.

44

41

47

49

A continued increase in satisfaction levels is indicative of
the implementation of Council’s Communications and
Engagement Strategy which is focussed on improved
engagement with the community and explaining the reasons
behind Council decisions.

The number is reflective of the successful Animal
Management prosecutions during 2017/18 (excluding unpaid
fines). There was an increase in the serious dog attack cases
reported to Council during 2017/18 leading to an increase in
Animal Management related prosecutions.

Food safety
Health and safety
Critical and major non-compliance notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance notifications and
major non-compliance notifications about a food premises
followed up/Number of critical non-compliance notifications
and major non-compliance notifications about food
premises] x100
Governance
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council
has performed in making decisions in the interest of the
community]
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Service/indicator/measure

Results Results Results Results Material Variations
2015
2016
2017
2018

Home and Community Care (HACC)
Participation
Participation in HACC service
[Number of people that received a HACC service/
Municipal target population for HACC services] x100

46%

45.38%

n/a

n/a

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due to the introduction of the
Commonwealth Government’s National Disability Insurance Scheme
(NDIS) and Commonwealth Home Support Programme (CHSP) programs

Participation
Participation in HACC service by Culturally and
Linguistically Diverse (CALD) people
[Number of CALD people who receive a HACC service/
Municipal target population in relation to CALD people
for HACC services] x100
Libraries
Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library members/Municipal
population] x100

42%

39.95%

n/a

n/a

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due to the introduction of the
Commonwealth Government’s NDIS and CHSP programs

35%

32.58% 30.74% 23.70% An active library member is defined as a member who has borrowed a
library collection item. A reporting review by West Gippsland Libraries
found that reporting for this measure had previously incorrectly included
library members who had used public computers and Wi-Fi but not
borrowed an item. In 2017/18 Bass Coast Shire libraries had a 23.70 per
cent result based on 8,112 active library members. In 2016/17 the amended
result was 24.04 per cent based on 8,012 active library members.

Maternal and Child Health (MCH)
Participation
Participation in the MCH service
[Number of children who attend the MCH service at
least once (in the year)/Number of children enrolled in
the MCH service] x100
Participation
Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal children
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the
MCH service at least once (in the year) / Number of
Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH service] x100
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0%

0%

0%

0%

Council does not have operational control of MCH service.

0%

0%

0%

0%

Council does not have operational control of MCH service.
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Service/indicator/measure

Results
2015

Results
2016

Results
2017

Results Material Variations
2018

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed local roads
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how
council has performed on the condition of sealed local
roads]
Statutory Planning

36

41

48

47

Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside
council’s decision in relation to a planning application
/ Number of VCAT decisions in relation to planning
applications] x100
Waste Collection
Waste diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected
from kerbside bins/Weight of garbage, recyclables and
green organics collected from kerbside bins] x100

83%

85.71%

40%

75%

2015, 2016 and 2018 saw only one decision of Council set aside,
with higher overall VCAT decisions made in earlier years. 2017
saw three of Council’s decisions set aside by VCAT.

28%

29.89%

32.40%

70.22%

The significant increase in Bass Coast Shire Council’s diversion
rate can be attributed to the introduction of a three bin
system incorporating Kerbside Food and Garden Organics
collection in September 2017. The organics collection is
weekly and the landfill bin is collected fortnightly to promote
diversion of waste from landfill. In the future, diversion is
expected to increase with this service model operating over a
full year.

Roads
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Council maintains a strong commitment and focus in
improving its road network. It is important to note that
the survey results are also a reflection of the condition of
VicRoads (State controlled roads) within the municipality.
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Definitions
“Aboriginal child” means a child who is an Aboriginal person
“Aboriginal person” has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006
“active library member” means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library
“annual report” means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose national language is not English
“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food premises under section 19C of that Act
“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C of that Act
“Community Care Common Standards” means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, published from time to time by the
Commonwealth
“critical non-compliance outcome notification” means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by
an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health
“food premises” has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984
“HACC program” means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the Home and Community Care
Act 1985 of the Commonwealth
“HACC service” means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program
“local road” means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act 2004
“major non-compliance outcome notification” means a notification received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council
by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken
“MCH” means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and development of children within the municipality from birth until
school age
“population” means the resident population estimated by council
“target population” has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth
“WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident” means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be notified to the Victorian
WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004.
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Financial Performance Indicators
Results
Dimension/indicator/measure

Forecasts

2015

2016

2017

2018

2018

2019

2020

$1,586.69

$1,601.84

$1,601.31

$1,694.02

$1,793.15

$1,837.57

$1,898.91

$2,305.38 $2,394.66

$2,375.01

$2,399.03

$2,638.46 $2,485.25

$2,455.86

2021

Material Variations

Efficiency
Revenue level*
Average residential rate per residential
property assessment
[Residential rate revenue/Number of
residential property assessments]
Expenditure level*
Expenses per property assessment
[Total expenses/Number of property
assessments]
Workforce turnover*
Resignations and terminations compared
to average staff[Number of permanent
staff resignations and terminations /
Average number of permanent staff for
the financial year] x100
Liquidity
Working capital
Current assets compared to current
liabilities
[Current assets/Current liabilities] x100

$1,950.00 Following the introduction of a three-bin
waste collection in 2017/18, Council increased
the garbage charge by 14 per cent. This has
resulted in revenue from rates and charges
increasing by 6 per cent year on year.
$2,462.61

10.10%

12.71%

6.49%

11.27%

11.93%

12.20%

12.22%

12.23%

Council sees staff turnover levels
return to industry average.

196.82%

232.51%

279.37%

251.58%

166.06%

164.86%

183.15%

199.29%

Higher current liabilities with the
review of the $4.8 million LGFV due in late
2018 causing it to shift from non-current
borrowings. This is partly offset by a higher
cash balance due to high capital works
budgeted costs being been carried over to
next year to complete multi year renewal
projects and for the payment of pre-ordered
plant and fleet.

*Forecast years may differ from 2018/19 budget document due to updates arising from finalising 2017/18 financial statements.
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Results
Dimension/indicator/measure

Forecasts

2015

2016

2017

2018

2018

2019

2020

2021

Material Variations

94.64%

108.84%

176.71%

133.42%

84.29%

92.75%

106.05%

118.09%

We have seen an increase in this ratio over
the last two years. In 2017 this was due to
early receipt of grants. In 2018, a higher capital
works budget carried over in 2018 to
accommodate multiyear projects and
payment of pre-ordered fleet is partly offset
by increased current liabilities with a $4.8
million LGFV up for review in late 2018 moving
it from non-current to current liability.

Asset renewal
Asset renewal compared to
depreciation
[Asset renewal expenses/Asset
depreciation] x100

41.24%

54.43%

55.19%

46.43%

87.38%

94.93%

92.66%

93.01%

The 2017/18 asset renewal indicator is
lower due to funds being carried over
to 2018/19 financial year to complete
multi year renewal projects and for the
payment of preordered plant and fleet.

Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings compared to
rates
[Interest bearing loans and
borrowings/Rate revenue] x100
Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings repayments
compared to rates
[Interest and principal repayments on
interest bearing loans and borrowings
/ Rate revenue] x100

28.01%

25.05%

26.68%

27.99%

20.79%

27.70%

31.42%

31.07%

3.61%

7.37%

3.46%

7.02%

12.37%

2.83%

2.94%

2.49%

An increase in this indicator is due to
an additional $4.8 million of borrowings
being drawn down during the year,
which is partly offset by loan
repayments of $3.3 million.
An increase in this indicator is due
to the repayment of $3.3 million in loans
during the year. This was partly
offset by the drawdown of new
loans, which are not represented in
this indicator.

Unrestricted cash
Unrestricted cash compared to current
liabilities
[Unrestricted cash / Current liabilities]
x100

Obligations
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Dimension/indicator/measure
Obligations
Indebtedness
Non-current liabilities compared to
own source revenue
[Non-current liabilities/Own source
revenue] x100
Operating Position
Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)
[Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit)/
Adjusted underlying revenue] x100

2015

Results
2016

Forecasts
2019
2020

2017

2018

2018

26.52%

26.94%

27.04%

22.01%

22.14%

28.29%

32.20%

32.83% A decrease in this indicator is due to a $4.8
million LGFV loan becoming current as it is
up for review late 2018, therefore decreasing
noncurrent liabilities.

-3.02%

-8.06%

3.36%

2.04%

-1.12%

3.00%

4.54%

6.61%

70.44%

76.19%

70.01%

73.06%

71.34%

74.27%

76.43% 76.61%

0.42%

0.44%

0.45%

0.41%

0.43%

0.44%

0.45%

2021

Material Variations

The small reduction in the underlying surplus is
attributable to a reduction of Commonwealth
grant funding due to the early receipt of half of
the 2017/18 Grant received in 2016/17 financial
year.

Stability
Rates concentration
Rates compared to adjusted underlying
revenue
[Rate revenue/Adjusted underlying
revenue] x100
Rates effort*
Rates compared to property values
[Rate revenue/Capital improved
value of rateable properties in the
municipality] x100
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Definitions
“adjusted underlying revenue” means total income other than:
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above
“adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)” means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure
“asset renewal expenditure” means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to its
original capability
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the Australian Accounting Standards (AAS)
“current liabilities” has the same meaning as in the AAS
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets
“non-current liabilities” means all liabilities other than current liabilities
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again during the
period covered by a council’s Strategic Resource Plan
“own-source revenue” means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants)
“population” means the resident population estimated by council
“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges
“recurrent grant” means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant
“residential rates” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties
“restricted cash” means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for which it is
restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year
“unrestricted cash” means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
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Other Information
Basis of preparation
Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its Annual Report.
The performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service
performance and financial performance indicators and measures together with a description of
the municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the results. This statement
has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Local
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.
Where applicable, the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting
bases consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based
on information drawn from Council information systems or from third parties (eg Australian
Bureau of Statistics).
The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the
prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by Council’s
Strategic Resource Plan. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014
requires explanation of any material variations in the results contained in the performance
statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure
and explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless
the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.
The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in its
Strategic Resource Plan on 28 June 2017 and which forms part of the Council Plan. The Strategic
Resource Plan includes estimates based on key assumptions about the future that were
relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long term.
Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose
Financial Statements. The Strategic Resource Plan can be obtained by contacting Council.
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this performance

Independent Auditor’s Report

statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:

To the Councillors of Bass Coast Shire Council
Opinion

I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Bass Coast Shire
Council (the council) which comprises the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2018
sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018
service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018
financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2018
other information and
the certification of the performance statement.

In my opinion, the performance statement of Bass Coast Shire Council in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 presents fairly, in all material respects,
in accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the
Local Government Act 1989.
Basis for Opinion

•

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. I further
describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the performance statement section
of my report.

•

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of
the performance statement in Victoria and have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of performance
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the council’s internal control
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
performance statement, including the disclosures, and whether
performance statement represents the underlying events and results in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my opinion.
Councillors'
responsibilities for the
performance
statement

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and for such internal control
as the Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair
presentation of the statement of performance that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s
responsibilities for the
audit of the
performance
statement

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

MELBOURNE
26 September 2018

Tim Loughnan
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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Governance

Meetings of Council

Bass Coast Shire Council is constituted under the Local Government
Act 1989 to provide leadership for the good governance of the
municipal district and the local community. Council has a number of
roles including:
• taking into account the diverse needs of the local community in
decision-making
• providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and
monitoring achievements
• ensuring that resources are managed in a responsible and
accountable manner
• advocating the interests of the local community to other
communities and governments
• fostering community cohesion and encouraging active
participation in civic life
Council is committed to effective and sustainable forms of
democratic and corporate governance as the key to ensuring that
Council and its administration meet the community’s priorities. The
community has many opportunities to provide input into Council’s
decision-making processes including community consultation, public
forums such as ward meetings and the ability to make submissions to
Special Committees of Council.
Council’s formal decision-making processes are conducted through
Council Ordinary Meetings and Special Committees of Council.
Council delegates the majority of its decision-making to Council
staff. These delegations are exercised in accordance with adopted
Council policies.

Council conducts open public meetings on the third Wednesday of each month,
with some exceptions made and no meeting held in January.
Members of the community are welcome to attend these meetings and observe
from the gallery. Council meetings also provide the opportunity for community
members to submit a question to Council.
For the 2017/18 year Council held the following meetings:
• 11 Ordinary Council Meetings
• 2 Special Council Meetings
The following table provides a summary of Councillor’s attendance at Council
Ordinary Meetings and Special Council Meetings for the 2017/18 financial year.
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July 2017 – June 2018
Councillors
Cr Pamela Rothfield

Council Meeting
11

Special Council
Meeting
2

Total
13

9

2

11

11
10
11
11
11
10
11

2
2
1
1
2
2
2

13
12
12
12
13
12
13

(Mayor)

Cr Brett Tessari
(Deputy Mayor)

Cr Julian Brown
Cr Geoff Ellis
Cr Stephen Fullarton
Cr Bruce Kent
Cr Les Larke
Cr Clare Le Serve
Cr Michael Whelan
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Committees
Council has a variety of working groups, advisory and planning committees that Councillors are delegated to.
Special committees have also been established under Section 86 of the Local Government Act 1989.
Council adopted the Appointment of Section 86 Special Committees Policy at the Ordinary meeting of 15 August 2012.
The objectives of the Policy are to:
• provide Council with a clear framework for appointing Committees
• ensure that Special Committees are appointed only when necessary and with clear roles and responsibilities
The following list contains the names of committees that Councillors are delegated to as well as the special committees established by Council:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Access and Inclusion Advisory Committee
Audit Committee
Arts and Culture Advisory Committee
Bass Coast Community Road Safety Committee
Bass Coast Events Advisory Committee
Bass Coast Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee
Bass Coast Municipal Fire Management Committee
Bass Coast Natural Environment Advisory Working Group
Bass Coast Place Names Committee
Bass Coast War Memorial Custodial Committee
Cape Paterson Hall Committee of Management
Cape Paterson Sports Facility Committee of Management
Car Ferry Project Steering Committee
Community Tourism Reference Group
Corinella Community Hall Committee of Management
Coronet Bay Reserves Committee of Management
Dalyston Hall Committee of Management
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dalyston Recreation Reserve Committee of Management
Glen Alvie Recreation Reserve Committee of Management
Glen Forbes Community Recreation Reserve Committee of Management
Kernot Hall and Reserve Committee of Management
Krowera Hall Committee of Management
Newhaven Hall Committee of Management
Phillip Island Aquatics Working Group
Phillip Island Integrated Transport Study Reference Group
Phillip Island New Year’s Eve Working Group
Pioneer Bay Reserve Committee of Management
Pound Creek Recreation Reserve Committee of Management
Public Art Reference Committee
Rhyll Hall and Reserve Committee of Management
Rural Engagement Group
Surf Beach Community Park Committee of Management
The Chief Executive Officer Employment Matters Committee
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Councillor Code of Conduct

Councillor Allowances

The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) requires Councils to develop and
approve a Councillor Code of Conduct within 12 months after each general
election. On 15 February 2017, Council adopted a revised Councillor Code of
Conduct which is designed to:
• assist Councillors to maintain the highest standards of conduct and behaviour as
well as provide a means to deal with problems they may encounter
• attract the highest level of confidence from Council’s stakeholders
• assist the Mayor and Councillors to discharge the responsibilities of their public
office appropriately
In addition to setting out the Councillor Conduct Principles, the Code also outlines:
• other conduct definitions under the Act, such as those relating to misuse of
position, improper direction, breach of confidentiality and conflict of interest
• roles and relationships
• dispute resolution procedures

In accordance with Section 74 of the Local Government Act 1989, Councillors
are entitled to receive an allowance while performing their duty as a
Councillor. The Mayor is also entitled to receive a higher allowance.
The state government sets the upper and lower limits for all allowances paid
to Councillors and Mayors. Councils are divided into three categories based on
the income and population of each Council. In this instance Bass Coast Shire
Council is recognised as a category two Council.
For the period 1 July 2017 to 31 November 2017, the Councillor annual allowance
for a category two Council (as defined by the Local Government Act 1989)
was fixed at $24,730 and the allowance for the Mayor at $76,521. The annual
allowances were adjusted for the period 1 December 2017 to 30 June 2018 at
$25,225 per annum for the Councillor allowance and $78,051 per annum for the
Mayoral allowance. The following table contains a summary of the allowances
paid to each Councillor during the 2017/18 year:

Conflict of Interest

Councillors

Councillors are elected by the residents and ratepayers to act in the best interests
of the community. This is a position of trust that requires Councillors to act in
the public interest. When a Council delegates its powers to a Council officer or a
committee, the committee or officer also needs to act in the public interest.
A conflict of interest occurs when a personal or private interest might compromise
the ability to act in the public interest. A conflict of interest exists even if no
improper act results from it. Council has a comprehensive procedure in place to
accommodate the disclosure of a conflict of interest.
Declaration of a conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for all Council and
Committee meetings.
While the procedures vary depending on the particular role and circumstances,
in general they involve disclosing the relevant interests in a specific way and then
stepping aside from the relevant decision-making process or from the exercise
of the public duty. A register is maintained to record all disclosed conflicts of
interests.

Cr Pamela Rothfield (Mayor)
Cr Brett Tessari (Deputy Mayor)
Cr Julian Brown
Cr Geoff Ellis
Cr Stephen Fullarton
Cr Bruce Kent
Cr Les Larke
Cr Clare Le Serve
Cr Michael Whelan
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Allowance
$77,129
$24,927
$24,927
$24,927
$24,927
$24,927
$24,927
$24,927
$24,927
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Councillor Expenses
In accordance with Section 75 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council is required to reimburse a Councillor for expenses incurred whilst performing his or her
duties as a Councillor. Council is also required to adopt and maintain a policy in relation to the reimbursement of expenses for Councillors. The policy provides
guidance for the payment of reimbursements of expenses and the provision of resources, facilities and other support to the Mayor and Councillors to enable them
to discharge their duties. Council also publishes in its Annual Report the details of the expenses, including reimbursement of expenses for each Councillor and
member of a Council Committee paid by Council.
The details of the expenses for the 2017/18 year are set out in the following table:
Vehicle/
Councillor
Travel
Car mileage
$
$
Cr Pamela Rothfield
$4,917.12
$3,779.97

Information and
Communication
$
$715.48

Conferences
and Training
$
$2,417.12

Total
$
$11,829.69

(Mayor)

Cr Brett Tessari

$1,798.94

$2,623.13

$646.41

$2,247.03

$7,315.51

$0
$0
$0
$2,241,28
$1,903.40
$0
$0

$1,944.79
$5,530.68
$3,671.94
$7,783.81
$6,400.97
$5,681.63
$4,138.87

$647.57
$652.43
$645.40
$645.40
$892.55
$645.40
$645.40

$28.57
$1,009.37
$0
$1,851.33
$28.57
$28.57
$28.57

$2,620.93
$7,192.48
$4,317.34
$12,521.82
$9,225.49
$6,355.60
$4,812.84

(Deputy Mayor)

Cr Julian Brown
Cr Les Larke
Cr Stephen Fullarton
Cr Michael Whelan
Cr Clare Le Serve
Cr Geoff Ellis
Cr Bruce Kent

Management
Council has implemented a number of statutory and better practice items to strengthen its management framework. Having strong governance and management
frameworks lead to better decision making by Council. The Act requires Council to undertake an assessment against the prescribed governance and management
checklist and include this in its report of operations. Council’s Governance and Management Checklist results are set out in the section below. The following items
have been highlighted as important components of the management framework.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s role is to oversee and monitor the effectiveness
of Council in carrying out its responsibilities for accountable financial
management, good corporate governance, maintaining an effective
system of internal control and risk management and fostering an ethical
environment. The Audit Committee consists of three independent
members, Mr Vincent Philpott (Chair), Mr Homi Burjorjee and Mr Tim Large,
the Mayor and two Councillors.
Independent members are appointed for a three year term, with a
maximum of two terms. The chair is elected by Council. Mr David Schultz’s
term finished and a new independent member has been appointed, Mr
Homi Burjorjee
The Audit Committee meets five times a year. The Internal Auditor, External
Auditor, Executive Team and relevant Managers attend all Audit Committee
meetings. Other officers attend as required to present reports.
Recommendations from each Audit Committee meeting are subsequently
reported to and considered by Council.

Internal Audit
Council’s internal audit function provides independent and objective
assurance that the appropriate processes and controls are in place across
Council. The review process considers Council’s risk framework, the Council
Plan, the impact of any change on operations, systems or the business
environment; prior audit coverage and outcomes and management input.
The Audit Committee each year endorse a program for independent
review and audit. At each Audit Committee meeting, the Committee
receives a detailed report on the actions being implemented, their progress
and current status. Managers provide quarterly status updates that are
reviewed by the Internal Auditor and reported to the Executive Team and
the Audit Committee.
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Quality assurance is measured through client satisfaction surveys for each
review, the annual Audit Committee self-assessment, completion of the
internal audit plan and benchmarking against other internal audit functions.
The following reviews were conducted in 2017/18:
• Review of Human Resources Management 2017
• Matters arising from Financial Audit Report 2018
The Audits that are currently being conducted are a Data Mining Audit and
an audit of Infrastructure and Asset Management and Road Maintenance /
Inspections.

External Audit
Council is externally audited by the Victorian Auditor-General. For the
2017/18 year the annual external audit of Council’s Financial Statements and
Performance Statement was conducted by the Victorian Auditor-General’s
representative. The external auditors attend Audit Committee meetings
during the year to present the annual audit plan and Independent Audit
Report. The external audit management letter and responses are also
provided to the Audit Committee.

Risk Management
In April 2015, Council adopted the Risk Management Framework and
Policy in line with current best practice in the management of business
enterprise risks and current AS/NZS 31000 guidelines. The Risk Management
Framework and Policy addresses items such as:
• risk management culture and branding
• communication and training
• best practice in risk management
• responsibilities of and to internal and external stakeholders
• risk registers and risk management software development
• the Council planning cycle, budget cycle and annual audit cycle
• a performance measurement system to determine the effectiveness of
the framework
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Governance and Management Checklist
The following are the results in the prescribed form of Council’s assessment against the prescribed governance and management checklist.
Governance and Management Items
1 Community engagement policy (policy outlining Council’s commitment to engaging with the
community on matters of public interest)

Assessment
Communication and Engagement Policy adopted September
2015

2

Community engagement guidelines (guidelines to assist staff to determine when and how to
engage with the community)

Communication and Engagement Strategy adopted
September 2015; revised version adopted March 2018

3

Strategic Resource Plan (plan under section 126 of the Act outlining the financial and nonfinancial resources required for at least the next four financial years)

Adopted in accordance with section 126 of the Act. Date of
adoption: 20 June 2018

4

Annual budget (plan under section 130 of the Act setting out the services to be provided and
initiatives to be undertaken over the next 12 months and the funding and other resources
required)
Asset management plans (plans that set out the asset maintenance and renewal needs for key
infrastructure asset classes for at least the next 10 years)

Adopted in accordance with section 130 of the Act. Date of
adoption: 20 June 2018

6

Rating strategy (strategy setting out the rating structure of Council to levy rates and charges)

Incorporated in 2017/18 Budget. Adopted 20 June 2018

7

Risk policy (policy outlining Council’s commitment and approach to minimising the risks to
Date of operation of current policy: 15 April 2015
Council’s operations)
Fraud policy (policy outlining Council’s commitment and approach to minimising the risk of fraud) Date of operation of current policy: 16 July 2014

5

8
9

Municipal Emergency Management Plan (plan under section 20 of the Emergency Management
Act 1986 for emergency prevention, response and recovery)

10 Procurement policy (policy under section 186A of the Local Government Act 1989 outlining the
matters, practices and procedures that will apply to all purchases of goods, services and works)
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Date of operation of current plans: Roads 16 August 2017;
Drainage 24 June 2015; Building 18 May 2016

Prepared and maintained in accordance with section 20 of
the Emergency Management Act 1986: 18 April 2018
Prepared and approved in accordance with section 186A of
the Local Government Act 1989: 16 May 2018
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Governance and Management Items
11 Business Continuity Plan (plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to ensure that
key services continue to operate in the event of a disaster)

Assessment
Date of operation of current plan: 25 November 2014,
reviewed 31 January 2017

12

Disaster Recovery Plan (plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken to recover and
restore business capability in the event of a disaster)

Date of operation of current plan: 31 October 2014

13

Risk management framework (framework outlining Council’s approach to managing risks to the Date of operation of current framework: 15 April 2015
Council’s operations)

14 Audit Committee (advisory committee of Council under section 139 of the Act whose role
is to oversee the integrity of a Council’s financial reporting, processes to manage risks to
the Council’s operations and for compliance with applicable legal, ethical, and regulatory
requirements)
15

Established in accordance with section 139 of the Act
Date of establishment: 1 January 1997

Internal audit (independent accounting professionals engaged by the Council to provide
Date of engagement of current provider: 19 July 2017
analyses and recommendations aimed at improving Council’s governance, risk and management
controls)

16 Performance reporting framework (a set of indicators measuring financial and non-financial
performance, including the performance indicators referred to in section 131 of the Act)

Date of operation of current framework: 1 July 2014

17

Date of reports: Major Initiatives, Finance and Capital Works
Progress Report 15 November 2017, 21 February 2018, 16 May
2018

Council Plan reporting (report reviewing the performance of the Council against the Council
Plan, including the results in relation to the strategic indicators, for the first six months of the
financial year)

18 Financial reporting (quarterly statements to Council under section 138 of the Act comparing
budgeted revenue and expenditure with actual revenue and expenditure)

19 Risk reporting (six-monthly reports of strategic risks to Council’s operations, their likelihood
and consequences of occurring and risk minimisation strategies)
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Statements presented to council in accordance with section
138(1) of the Act
Date statements presented: Annual Report 18 October 2017,
Major Initiatives, Finance and Capital Works Progress Reports
15 November 2017, 21 February 2018, 16 May 2018
Date of reports: 2 August 2017, 29 November 2017, 28 February
2018, 23 May 2018
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Governance and Management Items
20 Performance reporting (six-monthly reports of indicators measuring the results against
financial and non-financial performance, including performance indicators referred to in
section 131 of the Act)

Assessment
Reported in Annual Report 18 October 2017 and Major
Initiatives, Finance and Capital Works Progress Report 16 May
2018

21

Considered at a meeting of Council in accordance with section
134 of the Act. Date statements presented: 18 October 2017

Annual report (annual report under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act to the community
containing a report of operations and audited financial and performance statements)

22 Councillor Code of Conduct (Code under section 76C of the Act setting out the conduct
principles and the dispute resolution processes to be followed by Councillors)

Reviewed in accordance with section 76C of the Act. Date of
review: 15 February 2017

23 Delegations (a document setting out the powers, duties and functions of Council and the
Chief Executive Officer that have been delegated to members of staff)

Reviewed in accordance with section 98(6) of the Act. Date of
review: 16 May 2018

24 Meeting procedures (a local law governing the conduct of meetings of Council and special
committees)

Meeting procedures local law made in accordance with section
91(1) of the Act. Date local law made: 16 May 2018

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management arrangements.

Paul Buckley PSM					
Chief Executive Officer				
Dated: 26 September 2018 				

Cr Pamela Rothfield
Mayor
Dated: 26 September 2018
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The following information is provided in accordance with legislative and
other requirements applying to Council.

Documents Available for Public Inspection
In accordance with Part 12 of the Local Government (General) Regulations
2015, the following is a list of the prescribed documents that are available.
Inspection or copies of documents can be obtained for the purposes
of section 222 of the Local Government Act 1989 at 76 McBride Ave,
Wonthaggi:
a) a document containing details of overseas or interstate travel (other than
interstate travel by land for less than three days) undertaken in an official
capacity by any Councillor or member of Council staff in the previous 12
months, including:
i. the name of the Councillor or member of Council staff
ii. the dates on which the travel began and ended
iii. the destination of the travel
iv. the purpose of the travel
v. the total cost to the Council of the travel, including accommodation cost
b) the agendas for, and minutes of, Ordinary and Special Meetings held in the
previous 12 months which are kept under section 93 of the Act, other than
those agendas and minutes relating to a part of a meeting which was closed
to members of the public under section 89 of the Act and are confidential
information within the meaning of section 77(2) of the Act;
c) the minutes of meetings of special committees established under section
86 of the Act and held in the previous 12 months, other than those minutes
relating to a part of a meeting which was closed to members of the public
under section 89 of the Act and are confidential information within the
meaning of section 77(2) of the Act;
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d) a register of delegations kept under sections 87(1) and 98(4) of the Act,
including the date on which the last review took place under sections 86(6)
and 98(6), respectively, of the Act;
e) a document containing details of all leases involving land which were
entered into by the Council as lessor, including the lessee and the terms and
the value of the lease;
f) a register maintained under section 224(1A) of the Act of authorised
officers appointed under that section;
g) a list of donations and grants made by the Council in the previous 12
months, including the names of persons who, or bodies which, have received
a donation or grant and the amount of each donation or grant.
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Best Value
In accordance with section 208B(f) of the Local Government Act 1989, at least once
every year a Council must report to its community on what it has done to ensure that
it has given effect to the Best Value Principles.
Council incorporates Best Value Principles through regular business planning and
performance monitoring processes and through a commitment to continuous
improvement and innovation which is supported by our Sustainable Excellence
Program. To further reflect Council’s commitment to Best Value, Council has
commenced the introduction of a Service Review Program. This program has been
introduced to review six service areas per year to find opportunities and efficiencies,
and to make sure that the model we use to deliver services provides maximum benefit
to our community. The purpose of the service reviews:
• Is designed to find operational efficiencies and innovations to deliver services to the
community in accordance with the Council Plan and Long Term Financial Plan
• Is our commitment to continuous improvement in what we do
• Is not about performance. In general, service reviews are designed to determine the
level of service we will provide and the most appropriate strategic model to provide
that service
This year we have continued to find efficiencies and savings by undertaking the
following reviews:
• Social and Community Planning
• Customer Service
• Road, Building, Administration and Plan Maintenance
• Economic Development
• Events Management and Tourism
• Strategic Planning
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The following service reviews are complete and being implemented:
• Social and Community Planning
• Customer Service
• Road, Building, Administration and Plant Maintenance
• Parks and Gardens
• Infrastructure Delivery
The following Service Reviews are completed, including
implementation:
• Phillip Island Nature Park (PINP) and Council’s Asset Management
and Response on Crown land
• Funding to other Organisations
• Aged and Disability
• Revenue Services
• Recreation Services
• Cemetery Management
• Caravan Parks
• Governance and Councillor Support
• Waste Management
• Fleet Management
• Statutory Planning, Building Approvals and Planning Administration
• Emergency Management and Fire Prevention
• Environmental Health Services
• Governance and Councillor Support
• Visitor Services
• Local Laws
• Valuations
• Building Approvals
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Carers Recognition
In accordance with the Carers Recognition Act 2012 (CRA), Council is required
to report annually on its care measurement obligations under Section 11
of that Act. Council has taken all practicable measures to comply with its
responsibilities outlined in the Carers Recognition Act 2012.
During 2017/18 Council undertook significant effort to promote the CRA to
Council staff and the community.
Council has promoted the principles of the CRA to people in care
relationships who receive council services, to people in care relationships, and
to the wider community by:
• report in the Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report
• report in the Carers Support annual report to Department of Health and
Human Services
• CRA material in the client information book
• CRA material in the Aged and Disability client newsletter
• promotion of the CRA poster through Council community services and
facilities
• promotion on Council website for the CRA with links to the official CRA
website
Council has taken all practicable measures to ensure staff, Council agents
and volunteers working for Council are informed about the principles and
obligations of the Act by including information on the care relationship in:
• Shire Crier (Council’s staff newsletter)
• CRA information placed in the Community Care Workers staff manual
• staff induction program
• distribute CRA via email to Aged and Disability office based staff
• Council induction and meetings for staff working in Aged and Disability
Services
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Council has taken all practicable measures to review and modify policies,
procedures and supports to include recognition of the carer relationship and
has provided the following additional activities and resources to recognise
the care relationship. Council meet regularly with carers to develop a plan of
what support is offered throughout the year as part of the Carers Support
Program. During 2017/18 Council ran the following support for carers:
• Respite services
• Bi-monthly Carer Support Group Coffee Catch ups
• Carer retreats
• Workshops for carers
• Series of social events for carers

Contracts
During the year Council did not enter into any contracts valued at $150,000 or
more for any goods and services, or works (ie construction/building) that will
exceed $200,000 or more, without first engaging in a competitive process.
These figures are GST inclusive and are for the value of the life of the goods,
services and works.
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Disability Action Plan

Food Act Ministerial Directions

In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 2006, as Council has prepared a
Disability Action Plan it must report on the implementation of the Disability Action
Plan in its Annual Report. Disability Action Plan key outcomes and achievements in
2017/18 include:
• Universal Access has formed a key element in the design and construction of
significant Council projects during 2017/18. This includes the provision of accessible
features at the Wonthaggi Union Community Arts Centre and the Cowes Jetty
Triangle project
• Funding secured for the construction of a Changing Places facility as part of the
Cowes Transit Precinct project
• Development of Council’s website to include Level ‘AA’ of the Web Content
Accessibility Guidelines 2.0
• Support for Bass Coast Specialist School to produce a film to promote community
inclusion in Bass Coast. The film ‘We Are Here’ won the ‘Most Online Votes’ Award at
the 2017 Focus on Ability Film Awards
• Installation of new signage at Council’s Civic Centre to enhance the customer
experience, particularly for people with a disability

In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, Council is required
to publish a summary of any ministerial directions received during the
financial year in its annual report. No such ministerial directions were
received by Council during the 2017/18 financial year.

Domestic Animal Management Plan
Council’s Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-21 was adopted by Council on 20
September 2017 and submitted to the Secretary of the Department of Economic
Development, Jobs, Transport and Resources. The Plan sets the action plan for the
four year period. The Plan looks at how we live with cats and dogs and gives Council
a direction for management of these domestic animals until 2021. One of the main
objectives of the Plan is to assist the community with responsible pet ownership. It also
helps Council deliver a professional, consistent and proactive approach to domestic
animal management practices. The themes the Plan is required to address are: training
of authorised officers, registration and identification of cats and dogs, nuisance cats
and dogs, dog attacks, dangerous, menacing and restricted breed dogs, overpopulation
and high euthanasia and domestic animal businesses. A range of objectives have been
developed to address these themes along with an annual action plan.
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Freedom of Information (FOI)
In accordance with section 7(4AA)(a) and 7(4AA)(b) of the Freedom of
Information Act 1982, Council is required to publish certain statements
in their Annual Report or separately such as on its website, concerning
its functions and information available. Council has chosen to publish
the statements separately however provides the following summary of
the application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982.
Access to documents may be obtained through written request to
the Freedom of Information Officer, as detailed in section 17 of the
Freedom of Information Act 1982 and in summary as follows:
• it should be in writing
• it should identify as clearly as possible which document is being
requested
• it should be accompanied by the appropriate application fee (the
fee may be waived in certain circumstances)
Requests for documents in the possession of Council should be
addressed to the Freedom of Information Officer. Requests can be
lodged by post or email.
Access charges may also apply once documents have been processed
and a decision on access is made (eg photocopying and search and
retrieval charges). The timeframes for processing an FOI Application can
vary depending on the relevant access charges and third party appeal
rights.
Further information regarding FOI can be found at www.foi.vic.gov.au
and on Council’s website www.basscoast.vic.gov.au/foi.
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Statutory Information
Protected Disclosure Procedures
In accordance with section 69 of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 a
Council must include in their Annual Report information about how
to access the procedures established by Council under Part 9 of that
Act. It is also required to provide certain information about the number
and types of protected disclosures complaints investigated during the
financial year.
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 aims to ensure openness and
accountability in government by encouraging people to disclose
improper conduct within the public sector and provide protection for
people who make disclosures. Procedures on how to make a disclosure
are publicly available on Council’s website at
www.basscoast.vic.gov.au/protecteddisclosures
During the 2017/18 year no disclosures were notified to Council officers
appointed to receive disclosures, or to the Independent Broad-Based
Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC).

Road Management Act Ministerial Direction
In accordance with section 22 of the Road Management Act 2004,
Council must publish a copy or summary of any ministerial direction in
its Annual Report.
No such ministerial directions were received by Council during the
financial year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Councillors of Bass Coast Shire Council
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of Bass Coast Shire Council (the council) which comprises
the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

balance sheet as at 30 June 2018
comprehensive income statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
statement of cash flows for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
certification of the financial statements.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the council as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for
Opinion

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

•

•
•

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.
Councillors’
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors
conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
council to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE
26 September 2018

Tim Loughnan
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria

2
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Financial Performance
We are committed to providing accurate,
understandable and fair reporting on our
financial performance for 2017/18 and our
financial position at the end of the period. It
enables an assessment of our ability to deliver
current services and maintain existing facilities in
the longer-term.

In brief
We achieved a $9.99 million surplus in 2017/18;
$6.1 million above budget expectations.
This was mainly due to additional income:
• Developer contributed assets of $6.0 million.
• Additional capital and operating grants of $1.6
million.
• Increased statutory fees of $0.7 million
• Increased revenue on Council’s investments
of $0.2 million.
In addition savings on employee costs of
$1.0 million linked to tight control over staff
replacements and casual vacancies have helped
underpin the significantly better than budget
operating result.
We ended the financial year with a total cash
balance of $46.6 million compared to $38.2
million in 2016/17.
Total borrowings increased slightly from 2016/17,
to $15.4 million from $13.9 million as a result of
new borrowings to part fund the Capital Works
Program.
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Operating results
We achieved a $9.99 million surplus for the
2017/18 financial year, compared to a $12.2 million
surplus for 2016/17. Once the impact of the oneoff Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grant of
$3.0 million is excluded, the comparative 2017/18
surplus is $0.8 million more than that of the
preceding year. The adjusted improved surplus
is due to a combination of factors including
additional income generated from increased
activity and new property assessments and an
unbudgeted operating grant for the Highball
facility of $0.9 million. A continued focus on
delivering efficiencies from existing services and
activities coupled with labour cost constraint
has underpinned the strong operating surplus.

Further detail on our income can be seen in the
Comprehensive Income Statement.
An analysis of Council’s revenue sources highlights
that 82 per cent of our income is derived from
three income categories:
• Rates and charges 66%
• Operating grants 13%
• Capital grants
3%

Revenue breakdown

Revenue
Our total revenue for 2017/18 was
$84.1 million (budgeted $76.0 million) compared
with $84.4 million for 2016/17. As previously
indicated 2016/17 revenue was inflated by the
early receipt of the Commonwealth grant ($3.0
million) and this reduction has been offset by
additional rates and charges in line with budget
of $3.0 million. Revenue from other sources
including statutory fees and charges, user fees
and developer contributions has remained
broadly in line with 2016/17.
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Expenditure

Capital Works

Our total expenses for 2017/18 were
$74.0 million; $1.9 million more than the
$72.1 million spent in 2016/17 (detailed in the
Comprehensive Income Statement).
An analysis of expenses indicates that 93 per cent
were in the following three categories:
• Employee benefits 38%
• Materials and services 36%
• Depreciation and amortisation 19%
Aside from employee related costs the other major
expenditure type is materials and services.
Materials and services covers a wide range of
activities, such as payments to contractors for
services waste collection activities, maintenance,
repairs, legal fees, bank fees and insurances, amongst
many others. Each of the types of payments made in
this area is broken out into more detail within Note
4.2 of the Annual Financial Report.

2017/18 Capital Works expenditure of $12.3 million is in line with the prior year
expenditure of $12.6 million. Capital works expenditure has been impacted by
a number of large deferred and multi-year projects that have been planned for
delivery over consecutive financial years. Renewal and upgrade of our existing assets
accounted for $10.9 million and we spent $1.4 million on new and expansion works.
The investment in capital works is a strategic approach to maintaining or renewing the
community’s existing assets as they age.

Capital Works Trends

Expenditure Breakdown
Activities included:
• $3.5 million on road works
• $0.8 million on footpaths and cycle ways
Although Council’s expenditure on capital works was $12.3 million, the total value of
project costs for those activities was $13.4 million.
Total project costs include activities that support the delivery of capital works.
These support costs do not form part of the assets value and do not appear in the
Statement of Capital Works within the financial statements –these costs are reflected
in the Comprehensive Income Statement. To better understand the cost of a project
against the budget the following Statement of Project Works is prepared.
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Statement of Project Works

The 2018 Forecast includes variations that occur to
the program throughout the year and projects carried
forward from the 2016/17 financial year.
The more significant variations include:
• $2.2 million for the Cowes Jetty Triangle carried
forward from 2016/17
• $0.8 million for the Bass Valley integrated children’s
centre carried forward from 2016/17
• $0.4 million for the renewal of Wonthaggi Football
Facilities carried forward from 2016/17
• $0.2 million for the Pioneer Bay drainage strategy
land acquisition carried forward from 2016/17
• $0.2 million for the Phillip Island Football Netball
clubrooms project carried forward

Council’s borrowing liability levels increased from
$13.9 million in 2016/17 to $15.4 million in 2017/18.
During 2017/18 Council made total loan
repayments (principal and interest) of $3.3 million
and borrowed an additional $4.8 million. This
resulted in an overall net increase in debt of
$1.5 million. Council’s current debt is within the
prudential ratio limits previously used by the
Victorian State Government.

Loan liability
Total Loan Liability

Assets
Our total assets are valued at $672 million; 99 per cent
consisting of:
• Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure (land,
buildings, roads, bridges etc)
• Cash assets (mainly short-term investments)

Liabilities
Our total liabilities were $35.3 million as at 30 June 2018.
Liabilities included loans, amounts owed to suppliers,
provisions for landfill rehabilitation and amounts owed
to employees for leave entitlements. Liabilities increased
by $3.3 million, in comparison with 2016/17. This was
mainly due to an increase in overall borrowings of $1.5
million.
Provisions for employee benefits decreased by $0.3
million. Council’s provision for landfill restoration
increased by $0.4 million after a reassessment of works
required and costings.

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

Our Finances 85

Our Finances
Financial Indicators
The financial indicators included in this report
provide information on performance trends over
time.

Asset renewal ratio
This ratio is about the renewal of our existing
assets (ie replacing one asset with another of the
same quality). There has been dip in this ratio
in 2017/18 due to funds being carried over to
2018/19 to complete multi year renewal projects
and for the payment of pre-ordered plant and
fleet.

Asset Renewal Ratio

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

Underlying result

Revenue Ratio

This ratio provides an indication of whether
Council generates sufficient funds from its
day to day operations to deliver existing
services and maintain existing assets. Timing
of Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants
payments over the last few years has distorted
this result. This ratio is showing a positive trend
and the 2017/18 result, while lower than that of
the previous year, has not been elevated by the
early receipt of grant income.

The Revenue Ratio shows the level of our
reliance on rate revenue. It is an indication of
how much of our total revenue comes from
rates and charges. It is influenced by other
revenue sources such as government grants,
contributions, special charges, user fees and
charges. Rate income is a secure and predictable
source of revenue. A low ratio can warn of
undue reliance on other forms of revenue, which
may or may not be sustainable, e.g. government
grants. The preferred position is for a reliance on
rates and other commercial revenue, with a low
dependency on government grants
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Financial Sustainability Risk Indicators
Financial sustainability is defined in a number of
different ways. A generally accepted definition is
whether local governments have sufficient current
and prospective financial capacity (inflows) to meet
their current and prospective financial requirements
(outflows).
To be sustainable, councils need to have some
excess capacity at any point in time to be able to
manage future financial risks and shocks without
having to radically adjust their current revenue or
expenditure policies.
The indicators used by the Victorian Auditor General
to assess the financial viability of councils are:
• Net Result – whether enough revenue is generated
to cover operating costs (including the cost of
replacing assets, reflected in depreciation expense)
• Liquidity – whether sufficient working capital
exists to meet short-term commitments
• Internal Financing – whether sufficient operating
cash flows are generated to invest in asset renewal
and to repay any debt incurred in the past
• Indebtedness – whether there is an over reliance
on debt to fund the capital program
• Capital Replacement – whether assets have been
replaced at a rate consistent with the rate of their
consumption
• Renewal Gap – whether existing assets have been
maintained at a consistent rate
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The following graphs show the trend for each of
the financial sustainability risk indicators.

Net Result Ratio
This ratio includes capital grants that aid in
generating an underlying surplus. This can be
used for new assets or asset renewal. This result
places Council within the ‘Low’ risk category for
financial sustainability.

historically been recommended by the Municipal
Association of Victoria (MAV) as the minimum
level for this ratio.
Our current ratio of 2.52 is over the
recommended target for low risk and reflects
Council’s practice of putting aside funds to pay
for future activities. This is a very positive result
and it means that we have no immediate issue
with repaying our liabilities when they fall due.

Current ratio

Liquidity Ratio
The Liquidity Ratio expresses the level of
current assets, such as cash and investments,
that Council has available to meet our current
liabilities. This includes outstanding creditors and
employee entitlements.
To be considered at Low risk by the Auditor
General the ratio must be greater than 1.0. This
means that Council has the capacity to pay its
immediately due debts. A result above 1.5 has
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Indebtedness Ratio

Internal Financing Ratio

This ratio is about the renewal and upgrade of
our existing assets (ie replacing one asset with
another of the same or better quality). Much like
the Capital Replacement Ratio, the Renewal Gap
Ratio has historically been impacted by special
charge schemes and the more recent trend is
reflective of the funds made available through
organisational efficiencies being invested into the
replacement of existing assets.

This ratio indicates our ability to repay debt
from our own sources of revenue, such as rates
and charges. The ratio is comfortably in the Low
risk category, indicating that we are generating
sufficient funds to cover debt without requiring
outside assistance.

Indebtedness Ratio
Capital Replacement Ratio

Internal Financing Ratio
Results indicate that we are generating sufficient
cash from operations to fund the renewal of
existing assets. The increase in the trend of this
ratio is a reflection of the efficiencies generated
from the operational and service delivery
activities.
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Renewal Gap Ratio

Renewal Gap Ratio

This ratio is about the overall spending on assets,
both new and existing. The graph has historically
been inflated by the use of special charge schemes
to fund capital activities, of which there have been
no new schemes since 2014/15. Although lower
in the past three (3) years, since 2014/15 there has
been a steady increase as operational efficiencies
have freed up funds to invest in new assets.

Capital Replacement Ratio
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Understanding the Financial
Statements
Introduction
The financial statements show Council’s performance
during 2017/18 and our overall financial position as at
30 June 2018.
We present our financial report in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards. Particular terms
required by the standards may not be familiar
to some readers. Our commitment is to be as
transparent as possible. It is in this context that the
following explanations have been developed to assist
readers understand and analyse the financial report.
The financial report comprises two sets of
statements:
• Financial Statements (see page 89)
• Performance Statement (see page 50)

Annual Financial Report
The Annual Financial Report contains the General
Purpose Financial Statements. The data throughout
this report includes all entities controlled by Council.
Council’s financial report has two main sections, the
Report and the Notes. There are five Statements and
nine notes. These are prepared by Council staff and
reviewed by Council and Council’s Audit Committee.
They are also audited by the Victorian AuditorGeneral.
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The five statements included in the first few pages
of the report are the Comprehensive Income
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in
Equity, Statement of Capital Works and Statement of
Cash Flows.
The Notes detail Council’s accounting policies and
give further information about the make- up of the
values contained in the statements.

Comprehensive Income Statement
This statement includes all sources of income, less
all operating expenses incurred in delivering Council
services. It also includes depreciation of the value of
buildings, roads, footpaths, drains and all other assets
used to deliver Council services. These assets are
depreciated over their life as they are used. Capital
costs or new assets acquired or created during the
year are excluded from the statement.
Preparation of the statement is on an ‘accrual’ basis.
This means that all income and costs for the year
are recognised even though the income may not
have been received (interest on bank deposits), or
expenses not paid (invoices not received for goods
and services already used).

Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet is a one-page summary of our
financial position as at 30 June each financial year.
It shows what we own (assets) and what we owe
(liabilities). The bottom line of this statement is net
assets or the ‘net worth’ of Council.
The assets and liabilities are separated into current
and non-current. Current means those assets or
liabilities which will fall due or will be used in the
next 12 months. The components of the Balance
Sheet are described below.

Current and Non-Current Assets
• Cash includes cash and cash equivalents ie cash
held in the bank, petty cash and term deposits.
• Receivables are monies owed to Council by
ratepayers and others
• Investment in Associate is the investment in the
West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation.
• Other assets include inventory and accounts which
have been prepaid
• Property, Plant and Equipment, Infrastructure is
the largest component of Council’s worth and
represents the value of all land, buildings, roads,
vehicles, equipment, and other items

The key figure to look at is the surplus/(deficit)
for the year. A surplus is positive as it means that
revenue was greater than expenses. Continual deficits
(losses) may raise questions about Council’s ability to
be financially viable in the longer-term.
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Current and Non-Current Liabilities

Statement of Changes in Equity

Trade and other payables are monies owed by
Council as at 30 June each financial year.
• Trust funds and deposits are monies received
and held by Council
• Provisions include landfill rehabilitation works
and employee benefits, such as accrued long
service and annual leave
• Interest bearing liabilities includes loans repaid
over a set period of time. Lease liabilities are
leases of assets where ownership of the asset is
transferred to Council

The value of total equity, as set out in the balance
sheet, changes during the year. The statement
shows the values of each change along with how
and why.
The main reasons for changes in equity are:
• The ‘profit and loss’ from operations, described
in the Comprehensive Income Statement as the
surplus/(deficit)) for the year
• The use of monies from Council’s reserves and
transfers to Council’s reserves
• Revaluation of assets occurs to ensure
that assets are correctly valued at current
replacement value

Net Assets
This term is used to describe the difference
between the value of total assets and the value
of total liabilities. It represents the net worth of
Council as at 30 June each financial year. The net
value of Council is also synonymous with total
equity.

Total Equity
• Asset revaluation reserve is the difference
between the previously recorded value of
property and infrastructure assets and their
current valuations
• Other reserves are allocations of the
accumulated surplus to specific projects
• Accumulated surplus is the value of all net assets
accumulated over time
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Statement of Capital Works
The Statement of Capital Works summarises
Council spending on assets for the year. The
Statement of Capital Works breaks all capital
expenditure incurred by Council into three broad
headings – Property, Plant and Equipment, and
Infrastructure, with relevant sub groups below
these.
The Statement of Capital Works also shows asset
spending by four (4) categories:
• Asset renewal expenditure – spending on
renewing Council’s existing assets back to their
original service provision capacity
• Asset upgrade expenditure – spending on
improving the service capacity of Council’s
existing assets

• Asset expansion expenditure – spending on new
assets that expand the existing network
• New asset expenditure – spending on assets
that Council has not possessed previously

Statement of Cash Flows
The Statement of Cash Flows summarises Council’s
cash payments and cash receipts for the year.
This statement is presented according to a very
specific Accounting Standard and needs some
care in analysis. The values may differ from those
shown in the Comprehensive Income Statement
because this statement is prepared on an accrual
accounting basis.
The amounts disclosed in the Cash Flow Statement
are our cash flows generated from, and used in,
three main areas:
1. Cash Flow from Operating Activities
• Receipts. All cash received into Council’s bank
account from ratepayers and other monies
owed to Council. Receipts also include the
interest assets from Council’s cash investments.
It does not include the costs associated with the
sale of assets
• Payments. All cash paid from Council’s bank
account to staff, creditors and other persons. It
does not include the costs associated with the
creation of assets
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2. Cash Flow from Investing Activities
The accounting term Investing Activities relates
to payments for the acquisition of assets, such
as new plant, roads and other long-term revenue
producing assets. It also includes the proceeds
from the sale of assets, such as plant, and land

give details behind many of the summary figures
contained in the statements. The Note numbers
are shown beside the relevant items in the
Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet,
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement
of Cash Flows.

3. Cash Flow from Financing Activities
This is where the receipt and repayment of
borrowed funds are recorded.
The bottom line of the Statement of Cash Flows is
our total cash at the end of the financial year.
The Statement of Cash Flows is important as it
shows the source of our funds and detail show
they are spent.

Note 1 provides for a comparison between end of
year actual results and Council’s original budget,
highlighting and providing explanations for major
variances.
Where Council wishes to disclose other
information that cannot be incorporated in the
statements, then this is shown in the Notes. Other
Notes include:
• The breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves
and other assets
• Transactions with persons related to Council
• Financial performance indicators

Notes to the Accounts
The Notes are an important and informative
section of the report. The Australian Accounting
Standards are not prescriptive on a lot of issues. To
understand the basis on which the values shown
in the statements are established, it is necessary
to provide details of Council’s accounting policies.
These were previously provided in Note 1 but
have now following the release of a the new
Model Statements been incorporated within
the body of the relevant note that provides the
reader with information on the specific revenue,
expenditure, asset or liability item. This approach
has streamlined the financial statements and made
them more accessible and easier to interpret.
Apart from the accounting policies, the Notes also
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The Notes should be read in conjunction with the
other parts of the Financial Statements to get a
clear picture of the accounts.

Statements by Principal Accounting Officer
and Councillors
The Certification of the Principal Accounting
Officer is made by the person responsible for the
financial management of Council. It assures that,
in her/his opinion, the financial statements have
met all the statutory and professional reporting
requirements.
The Certification of Councillors is made by two
councillors on behalf of Council confirming that in
their opinion the financial statements are fair and
not misleading. The Chief Executive Officer also
endorses and signs the certification.

Auditor General’s Report
The Independent Auditor’s Report provides an
external opinion on the financial statements.
The opinion covers statutory and professional
requirements as well as addressing the fairness
aspects of the financial statements.

What is the Performance Statement?
The Performance Statement reports on Council’s
progress for the financial year against the Local
Government Performance Reporting Framework
indicators adopted as part of the annual budget.
They include financial and non-financial data.
Our external auditors review the evidence and
accuracy of the results.
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Comprehensive Income
Statement for Year Ended 30 June 2018




















































































































The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet as at 30 June
2018










































































































 



 
 
 























































The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2018



















 
 
 















































 

 

 













































The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flow for
the year ended 30 June 2018























































































































The above statement of cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Capital Works
for the year ended 30 June 2018

















































































































The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the




Financial Report for the Year
Ended 30 June 2018
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H[LVWHQFHRIWKHUHVHUYHVGRHVQRWQHFHVVDULO\PHDQWKDW&RXQFLOKDVWKHFDVKIXQGVDYDLODEOHWRDOORFDWHWRWKHUHVHUYHVSXUSRVH7KHQDPHRI
HDFKUHVHUYHDQGWKHSXUSRVHRIHDFKUHVHUYH ZK\&RXQFLOKDVWKHUHVHUYH LVSURYLGHGEHORZ
$UWLQ3XEOLF3ODFHV
&DSLWDO/HDVH&RPPLWPHQWV
&DU3DUNLQJ
&RQVWUDLQHG:RUNV &DUU\)RUZDUG
'UDLQDJH
)XWXUH6XVWDLQDELOLW\)XQG

3URYLVLRQIRUIXQGVWREHDOORFDWHGWRWKHGHYHORSPHQWDQGLQVWDOODWLRQRIPDMRUSXEOLFDUW
LQVWDOODWLRQVDFURVVWKHPXQLFLSDOLW\
:KHUH&RXQFLOKDVOHDVHVWKDWLQFOXGHDFDSLWDOFRQWULEXWLRQREOLJDWLRQWKLVUHVHUYHLVWR
UHWDLQWKHDQQXDODOORFDWLRQWRZDUGVWKDWFRQWULEXWLRQOHVVDQ\SD\PHQWVPDGH
6WDWXWRU\UHVHUYHWREHXVHGIRUWKHGHYHORSPHQWRIFDUSDUNLQJIURPVSHFLILFGHYHORSHU
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WKHIXWXUHILQDQFLDOVXVWDLQDELOLW\RIWKH%DVV&RDVW6KLUH
7KHVHIXQGVKDYHEHHQVHWDVLGHWKHIXQGWKHIXWXUHKLJKEDOOGHYHORSPHQWDWWKH:RQWKDJJL
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7KLVUHVHUYHLVWRIXQGWKHUHKDELOLWDWLRQRIZDVWHGLVSRVDOVLWHV
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9LFWRULDQ*UDQWV&RPPLVVLRQIXQGLQLQUHODWLRQWRWKHQH[WILQDQFLDO\HDUSDLGLQDGYDQFH

8QDOORFDWHG6XUSOXV

7KHVHIXQGVDUHWKHIXQGVWKDWUHPDLQXQDOORFDWHGDWWKH\HDUHQG
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